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QUESTION PRESENTED 

Whether a district court may bar a criminal 
defendant from attending his own trial without 
finding that his conduct threatens the court’s ability 
to conduct the trial.    
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The following were parties to the proceedings in 
the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh 
Circuit: 

1. Terrance Daniels, the petitioner on review, 
was defendant-appellant below. 
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3. Dahveed Dean, not a party here, was a 
defendant-appellant below. 
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INTRODUCTION 

The general rule in our legal system is that courts 
may not try criminal defendants in absentia.  To the 
contrary, “[o]ne of the most basic of the rights 
guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause [of the Sixth 
Amendment] is the accused’s right to be present in 
the courtroom at every stage of his trial.”  Illinois v. 
Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 338 (1970).  This petition calls 
upon this Court to resolve a conflict over the proper 
legal standard for depriving a defendant of that right 
as a result of pre-trial concerns about potential 
disruptive behavior at trial.  

Under Allen, a court must “indulge every 
reasonable presumption against the loss of 
constitutional rights,” and may take the 
extraordinary step of excluding a criminal defendant 
from his own trial only if he “insists on conducting 
himself in a manner so disorderly, disruptive, and 
disrespectful of the court that his trial cannot be 
carried on with him in the courtroom.”  Allen, 397 
U.S. at 343 (emphasis added).  Applying that 
standard, both the Eighth Circuit and the D.C. Court 
of Appeals have held that “‘[b]ehavior that is merely 
disruptive is insufficient under Allen to justify 
removal.’”  United States v. Ward, 598 F.3d 1054, 
1058 (8th Cir. 2010) (quoting Tatum v. United States, 
703 A.2d 1218, 1223 (D.C. 1997)).  Rather, these 
courts construe Allen to require the district court, 
before taking the extraordinary step of exclusion, to 
determine that the “‘trial cannot be carried on with 
[the defendant] in the courtroom.’”  Ward, 598 F.3d 
at 1058 (quoting Allen, 397 U.S. at 343).   

The trial court in this case excluded petitioner 
from his own trial without making any such 
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determination, and the Seventh Circuit upheld that 
decision.  According to the Seventh Circuit, the 
district court here was entitled to exclude petitioner 
from his own trial after he was disruptive one time, 
at the end of a pre-trial proceeding, and thereafter 
refused to promise that he would not engage in 
disruptive conduct at trial.  App. 25a.  But, as 
pointed out by the dissent from denial of rehearing 
en banc below on behalf of three judges, this 
approach turns the law “on its head,” by allowing a 
court to shift the burden of justifying exclusion to the 
defendant “unless he affirmatively promises (in a 
manner that convinces the judge) that he will 
behave.”  App. 42a (Williams, J., joined by Posner & 
Rovner, JJ.).   

The decision below cannot be reconciled with the 
Eighth Circuit and D.C. Court of Appeals cases cited 
above.  Those cases reversed convictions where, as 
here, the trial court did not determine that the trial 
could not proceed with the defendant in the 
courtroom.  Nor can a trial court abdicate its 
responsibility to make such a determination by 
placing the burden on the defendant to promise not 
to be disruptive: criminal defendants need not take 
affirmative steps to secure their ability to attend 
their own trial.   

As highlighted by the dissent from the denial of en 
banc rehearing below, this Court should grant review 
here to clarify the application of the Allen standard.  
In particular, allowing district courts to exclude 
criminal defendants from their trials without 
“finding that trial could not be carried on in [the 
defendant’s] presence,” makes it “too easy” for courts 
to reach this constitutionally “‘deplorable’” result.  
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App. 42a (opinion dissenting from denial of rehearing 
en banc) (quoting Allen, 397 U.S. at 347).   

OPINIONS BELOW 

The Seventh Circuit’s decision is published at 803 
F.3d 335 and reprinted in the Appendix (“App.”) at 1-
38a.  The Seventh Circuit’s order denying the 
petition for rehearing en banc, and the dissent from 
that order, are published at 806 F.3d 1111 and 
reprinted at App. 39-42a.  Excerpts from transcripts 
of relevant proceedings in the district court, 
including the the district court’s decision to exclude 
petitioner from his trial, are reprinted at App. 45-
69a.  

JURISDICTION 

The Seventh Circuit issued its decision on 
September 30, 2015.  App. 1a.  On October 14, 2015, 
petitioner filed a petition for rehearing en banc.  The 
Seventh Circuit denied that petition on December 1, 
2015.  App. 39a.  This Court has jurisdiction under 
28 U.S.C. § 1254(1). 

PERTINENT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS 

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment 
to the United States Constitution provides in 
relevant part that: “In all criminal prosecutions, the 
accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with 
the witnesses against him ....”  U.S. Const. amend. 
VI. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Trial Court Proceedings 

Petitioner Terrance Daniels was charged in the 
Northern District of Illinois with four counts related 
to two bank robberies under 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a) and 
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§ 924(c)(1)(A).  The district court (Der-Yeghiayan, J.) 
had jurisdiction over these charges pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. § 3231.  In the three years leading up to his 
trial, Daniels attended no fewer than thirteen pre-
trial hearings.  App. 41a.  Daniels sat silently at ten 
of those hearings.  App. 41a. 

On July 30, 2012, Daniels filed a document with 
the district court indicating his desire to proceed pro 
se.  App. 19a.  On August 2, 2012, the court held a 
hearing to address Daniels’ request, and questioned 
Daniels directly regarding his desire to waive his 
right to counsel.  In response to the district court’s 
questions, Daniels read a statement “conditionally 
accepting” the proceedings, the essence of which was 
an objection to the district court’s jurisdiction based 
on a “sovereign citizen” legal theory.  App. 46-48a.  
The judge noted that other “prison inmates” had read 
similar “boilerplate language” in his courtroom 
before, and warned Daniels that if he 
“demonstrate[d] any indication that he will be 
disruptive during the trial,” he would be excluded 
from the courtroom.  App. 48a, 52a.  The judge 
denied Daniels’ request to proceed pro se.   App. 51a.   

At the next pre-trial hearing on August 29, 2012, 
Daniels sat silently in the courtroom until the judge 
asked the parties if there was “anything else we need 
to address today.”  App. 55a.  Daniels raised his 
hand.  The judge told Daniels he did not “entertain 
questions from defendants who are represented by 
counsel.”  App. 55a.  Still wishing to proceed pro se, 
Daniels stated he was “not represented by [the 
appointed attorney].”  App. 55a.  The judge conferred 
with Daniels’ attorney, confirmed the attorney did 
not wish to address the court, then stated “there will 
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be no addressing the Court then by defendants 
unless their lawyer addresses the Court.”  App. 55a.  
After the hearing concluded, Daniels twice yelled 
“Are you denying me my right to speak?” and was 
escorted out after he “appeared to refuse to leave the 
courtroom even after the court indicated that the 
matter had concluded.”  App. 44a. 

At the next pre-trial hearing on September 5, 
2012, the judge asked Daniels’ attorney if Daniels 
intended to be civil in the courtroom.  App. 58a.  
Daniels’ attorney responded that Daniels had a right 
to be present and asked the court to “just leave it at 
that at this point.”  App. 58a.  The judge said “No, 
I’m not going to leave it at that” and proceeded to 
raise the issue directly with Daniels.  App. 58a.  The 
judge told Daniels that if he became disruptive, he 
would have “no alternative” but to exclude Daniels 
from trial.  App. 60a.  The judge asked Daniels if he 
had “anything to say about that.”  App. 60a.  Daniels 
responded by reading a statement “conditionally 
accepting” the proceedings, which was substantively 
similar to the statement he read at the August 2 
hearing.  App. 60a.  The judge told Daniels: “I’m not 
telling you you don’t have the right to tell me what 
you like to but what are you trying to tell me?”  App. 
61a.  Daniels again attempted to “conditionally 
accept” the proceedings.  App. 61a.  In response, the 
judge asked Daniels to promise that he would “sit in 
court without being disruptive,” in which case the 
judge would “allow [Daniels] to be present in the 
courtroom.”  App. 62a.  Daniels again failed to 
provide a responsive answer.  The judge concluded 
Daniels had forfeited his Sixth Amendment right to 
attend trial: “because of [Daniels’] past behavior and 
… non-responsiveness to my questions … I’m going 
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to have Mr. Daniels watch the trial on a video [at the 
prison].”  App. 63a. 

Because Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 43 
requires defendants to be “initially present at trial,” 
the judge ordered Daniels back to the courtroom on 
the first day of trial.  The judge told Daniels that his 
exclusion would continue unless he affirmatively 
promised to behave during trial.  App. 25a.  In 
response to the court’s attempt to swear him in, 
Daniels again read a statement “conditionally 
accepting” the proceedings.  App. 68a.  The judge 
reaffirmed his earlier finding that Daniels had 
forfeited his Sixth Amendment right to attend trial.  
Daniels was removed from the courtroom over his 
attorney’s objection, and was tried and convicted. 

B. Seventh Circuit Proceedings 

Daniels appealed his convictions to the Seventh 
Circuit, which had jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1291.  Daniels argued (among other things) that 
his exclusion from trial violated his Sixth 
Amendment confrontation right.  The Seventh 
Circuit, however, affirmed.  App. 19-25a.  According 
to the appellate court, in light of Daniels’ pro se 
filings, “non-responsive babbling” when directly 
questioned by the district judge, and the instance in 
which Daniels “yelled twice at the judge,” Daniels’ 
failure to “provide any assurance that he would not 
disrupt the proceedings, notwithstanding the court's 
warning that his refusal to do so would result in him 
being barred from trial,” left the district court with  
“no option but to hold that Daniels had forfeited his 
right to attend trial.”  App. 19-25a. 

On October 14, 2015, Daniels filed a petition for 
rehearing en banc, in which he argued that the 
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standard applied by the panel was an unsupported 
extension of Allen and created a direct conflict with 
other courts.  On December 1, 2015, the Seventh 
Circuit denied the petition over the dissent of three 
judges.  Judge Williams, joined by Judge Posner and 
Judge Rovner, opined that, absent “any basis for 
finding that trial could not be carried on in his 
presence,” the Seventh Circuit’s reliance on Daniels’ 
refusal to promise that he would not be disruptive 
rendered “meaningless” Allen’s directive to indulge 
every reasonable presumption against the loss of 
constitutional rights.  App. 41a (emphasis in 
original).  “The presumption is turned on its head if a 
judge, annoyed and sensing potential trouble, can 
bar a defendant from trial unless he affirmatively 
promises (in a manner that convinces the judge) that 
he will behave.”  App. 42a.  Contrasting conflicting 
decisions of the Eighth Circuit and the District of 
Columbia Court of Appeals, the dissent explained 
that Daniels’ exclusion from trial was improper 
under Allen because he was disruptive “one time,” by 
yelling at the end of a pre-trial hearing, and thus 
“did not continue any disruptive behavior, much less 
behavior that was so disruptive that trial could not 
go on in his presence.”  App. 41a (emphasis in 
original).  According to Judge Williams, the Seventh 
Circuit’s standard “eviscerat[es] an important 
constitutional right” by “mak[ing] it too easy” for 
courts to take the “deplorable” step of excluding a 
criminal defendant from trial.  App. 42a.  

This petition follows. 
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT 

I. The Decision Below Conflicts with the 
Eighth Circuit and the D.C. Court of 
Appeals.   

This case presents a conflict on an exceptionally 
important issue of constitutional law.  The standard 
applied by the Seventh Circuit is contrary to 
decisions of the Eighth Circuit and D.C. Court of 
Appeals applying the Allen standard.  In Allen, the 
defendant, whose mid-trial conduct included 
badgering prospective jurors, tearing up defense 
counsel’s files, and threatening to kill the judge, 
explicitly stated that his actions were designed to 
prevent trial.  397 U.S. at 339-40.  Affirming the 
defendant’s exclusion, this Court held that, after 
“indulg[ing] every reasonable presumption against 
the loss of constitutional rights,” a court may take 
the extraordinary step of excluding a criminal 
defendant from trial if he “insists on conducting 
himself in a manner so disorderly, disruptive, and 
disrespectful of the court that his trial cannot be 
carried on with him in the courtroom.”  Id. at 343, 
348.  Essential to the holding was the commonsense 
recognition that a defendant cannot “be permitted by 
his disruptive conduct indefinitely to avoid being 
tried on the charges brought against him.”  Id. 

The Eighth Circuit and the D.C. Court of Appeals 
interpret Allen to require misconduct that threatens 
the court’s ability to conduct the trial.  In Ward, the 
district court excluded the defendant after he 
“repeatedly interrupted defense counsel and the 
court.”  598 F.3d at 1056.  On appeal, the 
government, relying on Allen, argued that the 
district court properly removed the defendant 
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because he was “disruptive, contumacious, [and] 
stubbornly defiant.”  Id. at 1058.  The Eighth Circuit 
rejected this argument because it was contrary to 
Allen’s “narrower holding,” which “makes clear” that 
“behavior that is merely disruptive is insufficient 
under Allen to justify removal.”  Id. at 1058 
(emphasis in original).  Rather, consistent with 
Allen, “our few cases upholding decisions to exclude 
the accused from a criminal trial have involved 
defendants whose conduct threatened the court's 
ability to conduct the trial.”  Id.  (collecting cases). 

Similarly, in Tatum, the trial court excluded the 
defendant from trial after he interrupted the trial 
proceedings by talking out loud, laughing, and 
nodding his head.  703 A.2d at 1220.  Reversing, the 
D.C. Court of Appeals held that although the 
defendant’s behavior was “certainly disruptive,” it 
did not “rise to the level required by Allen.”  Id. at 
1224.  According to the court, the “crucial distinction” 
between the defendant’s conduct in Tatum and cases 
in which a defendant’s removal has been upheld is 
that it “was neither abusive, disrespectful, nor 
obscene, nor was it likely to obstruct the progress of 
the trial.”  Id. (emphasis added).   

In direct conflict with those cases, the Seventh 
Circuit did not apply the “ability to conduct the trial” 
standard here.  Rather, the Seventh Circuit held that 
once the defendant disrupts any pretrial proceeding, 
the district judge may demand that the defendant 
affirmatively promise he will not be disruptive 
during trial, and exclude the defendant from trial if 
he fails to do so.  App. 42a.  Thus, although Daniels’ 
conduct did not provide “any basis for finding that 
trial could not be carried on in his presence” (and so 
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could not have justified exclusion under Allen, Ward 
and Tatum), the judge, “annoyed and sensing 
potential trouble,” required Daniels to take an 
affirmative step to keep a fundamental right that, 
under Allen, he had not yet lost.  App. 42a (Williams, 
J., dissenting from denial of rehearing en banc) 
(emphasis omitted).   

This standard is backwards.  Under Allen, once 
the right to be present is lost through behavioral 
misconduct, the defendant can reclaim the right by 
assuring the court he will conduct himself properly 
moving forward.  Allen, 397 U.S. at 343.  Reversing 
Allen’s sequence, the Seventh Circuit in this case 
held that the right to be present can be lost by failing 
to “provide any assurance” in the first instance.  App. 
25a; contra Jones v. Murphy, 694 F.3d 225, 257 (2d 
Cir. 2012) (“There is simply no support in Allen for 
the proposition that a defendant can [] be excluded in 
the first instance … based on what he is likely to 
do.”) (Pooler, J., concurring in part and dissenting in 
part) (emphasis in original).  The Seventh Circuit’s 
reliance on the defendant’s failure to preemptively 
promise to behave turns the presumption against the 
loss of constitutional rights “on its head,” renders 
Allen’s directive “meaningless,” and “makes it too 
easy” for courts in the Seventh Circuit to take the 
“deplorable” step of excluding a defendant from his 
own criminal trial.  App. 42a (Williams, J., 
dissenting from denial of rehearing en banc).   

II. Daniels’ Exclusion From Trial Violated His 
Sixth Amendment Confrontation Right. 

It is highly unusual to exclude a criminal 
defendant from attending his own criminal trial.  It 
is even more unusual to do so before the trial has 
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even begun, as the district court did here.  The 
district court’s action, which was blessed by the 
Seventh Circuit on appeal, is a stark departure from 
the accepted and usual course of criminal 
proceedings in the United States judicial system and 
calls for the exercise of this Court’s supervisory 
power. 

Daniels sat silently at ten of the thirteen pretrial 
hearings he attended.  At and between the remaining 
three, Daniels annoyed the judge by filing documents 
on his own, despite being represented by a lawyer, 
and giving long, non-responsive answers to questions 
that the judge asked him directly.  Daniels was 
disruptive “one time, by [twice] yelling, ‘Are you 
denying me my right to speak?’ at the end of a 
pretrial hearing.”  App. 42a (Williams, J., dissenting 
from denial of rehearing en banc).  The district judge 
“seized the opportunity and decided to exclude 
Daniels unless he affirmatively promised not to be 
disruptive at trial.”  Id. 

Daniels’ exclusion from trial violated his Sixth 
Amendment confrontation right because his behavior 
did not threaten the courts ability to conduct the 
trial.  “[A]ll of Daniels’ conduct took place in pre-trial 
hearings.”  App. 42a (Williams, J., dissenting from 
denial of rehearing en banc) (emphasis in original).  
Thus, as in Ward, “we do not know whether he would 
have persisted in disruptive behavior to the point 
that it threatened continuation of the trial, or would 
have controlled his behavior in the presence of the 
jury.”  Ward, 598 F.3d at 1058-59.  Moreover, much 
of Daniels’ pretrial conduct “resulted from the judge’s 
own decision to ask questions of Daniels directly, 
even though he had a lawyer.”  App. 42a (Williams, 
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J., dissenting from the denial of rehearing en banc).  
With the exception of yelling “Are you denying me 
my right to speak?” (after the conclusion of a pretrial 
hearing at which the judge declined to address 
Daniels’ raised hand), none of Daniels’ conduct was 
obstreperous, and most of it could have been 
prevented by merely directing future inquiries to 
Daniels’ lawyer.  There was, in short, no “basis for 
finding that trial could not be carried on in his 
presence,” and thus no basis consistent with the 
Sixth Amendment for Daniels’ exclusion under Allen.  
Id. (emphasis in original). 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant 
this petition for writ of certiorari. 
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SUMMARY* 

 

MANION, Circuit Judge. A jury convicted 
Dahveed Dean and Terrance Daniels of armed bank 
robbery and related gun offenses. On appeal, Dean 
and Daniels challenge the district court’s decision to 
try them jointly, as well as various evidentiary 
rulings. Additionally, Daniels argues that his 
constitutional rights were violated when the district 
court barred him from the courtroom. Finally, they 
both argue that the district court erred in refusing to 
question a juror who, hours after voting to convict, 
contacted the court to change her vote because she 
had been “bullied.” Because none of the issues 
presented on appeal requires reversal, we affirm. 

I. 

During 2005, there were several armed bank robberies 
in the Chicagoland area. It took the government some 
time to track down the suspects, but in February 2008, a 
grand jury charged Dahveed Dean, Terrance Daniels, and 
Albert Jones in a six-count indictment. In Count I, Dean 
and Daniels were charged with robbing the First National 
Bank in South Holland, Illinois on August 2, 2005, while 
Count II charged Dean and Daniels with using a firearm 
in connection with that bank robbery. Count III charged 
Daniels and Jones with robbing the Bank of Lincolnwood 
on August 25, 2005, and Count IV charged Daniels and 
Jones with using a firearm in connection with that bank 
robbery. Count V charged Dean with robbing the First 
Bank in Chicago, Illinois, on December 20, 2005, and 
Count VI charged Dean with using a firearm during that 
robbery. 
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Prior to trial, Dean moved to sever his case from his 
two codefendants. The government opposed the motion, 
arguing that joinder was appropriate under Rule 8(b) 
because “the three defendants in this case all participated 
in a ‘same series of acts or transactions’—a spree of violent 
bank robberies involving the same modus operandi and 
the same crew of individuals.” In making this argument, 
the government noted that “[t]he evidence at trial will 
show that the three defendants in this case were part of a 
crew of bank robbers … . ” The government explained that 
there were several others involved in the charged bank 
robberies, including Maurice Wilbon, Marcus Moore, and 
LaChaun Vance. According to the government, Moore had 
participated in the August 2, 2005, bank robbery with 
Dean and Daniels and the December 20 robbery with 
Dean. Moore later testified at Dean and Daniels’ trial. 
Maurice Wilbon had also participated in the December 20 
robbery with Dean and Moore and had previously been 
convicted by a jury; he did not cooperate with the 
government. LaChaun Vance had participated in the 
August 25, 2005, bank robbery with Daniels and Jones 
and would also later testify at Dean and Daniels’ trial. The 
district court denied Dean’s motion to sever “because they 
were allegedly perpetrated by the same group of 
individuals and because [the crimes] were allegedly 
perpetrated in the same manner.” Dean renewed the 
motion two times, but the district court also denied the 
subsequent motions. 

Prior to trial Jones pleaded guilty. Dean and Daniels 
were then tried jointly, although Daniels was not 
physically present in the courtroom because the district 
court barred him based on his pretrial conduct and his 
refusal to promise the court that he would behave 
appropriately during the trial. Over the course of several 
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days, the jury heard from Moore and Vance, as well as the 
victims of the robberies and the investigating officers. 

On September 21, 2012, the jury returned a guilty 
verdict on Counts I and II against Dean and Daniels 
related to the August 2, 2005, robbery and gun charges; 
against Daniels on Counts III and IV related to the 
August 25, 2005, robbery and gun charges; and against 
Dean on Count V, related to the December 20, 2005, 
robbery. The jury acquitted Dean on the gun charge in 
Count VI. The jury was polled and each juror agreed with 
the verdict. However, a juror later informed the court that 
she had felt bullied and wanted to change her vote. The 
Court Security Officer (“CSO”) assigned to the jury also 
informed Daniels’ attorney that he had observed the juror 
in the hallway outside the jury room and that she had 
complained of having a panic attack. Daniels and Dean 
filed motions for a mistrial and requested the district court 
to inquire further of the juror. The district court concluded 
that the juror merely expressed concerns related to 
internal deliberation and that was not appropriate for 
further inquiry. However, the district court questioned the 
CSO further and learned that the juror had only left the 
deliberation room after the jury had reached its verdict. 
Accordingly, the district court denied the motions for a 
mistrial. 

Daniels and Dean appeal, presenting a host of issues, 
including: 1) the joinder of Dean and Daniels’ case; 2) the 
exclusion of Daniels from trial; 3) the admissibility of 
several pieces of evidence; and 4) the court’s refusal to 
question the juror further concerning her “bullying” 
comments and her absence from the jury room. These 
questions require a fact-intensive analysis and 
accordingly, to avoid redundancy, we recount below 
additional details as necessary. 
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II. 

A. Joinder 

On appeal, Dean and Daniels first argue their offenses 
were improperly joined under Fed. R. Crim. P. 8(b), which 
provides that joinder of two or more defendants is 
appropriate “if they are alleged to have participated in the 
same act or transaction, or in the same series of acts or 
transactions, constituting an offense or offenses.” Fed. R. 
Crim. P. 8(b). “We review a Rule 8 determination de novo.” 
United States v. White, 737 F.3d 1121, 1132 (7th Cir. 
2013). 

The government argues that joinder under Rule 8(b) 
was appropriate because Dean and Daniels were part of a 
crew of bank robbers and all of the charges were part of 
the same series of acts or transactions. The problem for 
the government, though, is that the indictment did not 
allege such a theory and in assessing the propriety of 
joinder, we look “solely to the allegations in the 
indictment.” White, 737 F.3d at 1132. In this case, the 
indictment merely charged three separate bank robberies 
and three related firearm offenses. Counts I and II 
charged Dean and Daniels with bank robbery and the 
related firearm offense and were properly joined. But 
Counts III and IV charged Daniels and Jones, but not 
Dean, with bank robbery and gun charges related to the 
Bank of Lincolnwood robbery. Counts V and VI charged 
Dean, but not Daniels, with robbing the First Bank in 
Chicago and the related firearm offense. 

In response, the government stresses that under Rule 
8(b) “the defendants need not be charged in every count, 
nor must they be charged with the same crimes.” White, 
737 F.3d at 1132; see also Fed. R. Crim. P. 8(b). While it is 
true that the defendants in a joint trial do not need to be 
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charged in every count, or with the same crimes, where 
multiple defendants are charged all of the counts must be 
related to the same common plan or scheme. United 
States v. Velasquez, 772 F.2d 1348, 1352–53 (7th Cir. 
1985). Here, the indictment did not charge a conspiracy, or 
even separate conspiracies. Id. at 1353 (“The indictment 
need not charge a single overarching conspiracy, provided 
the separate conspiracies it charges arise from a common 
plan or scheme and so could alternatively have been 
charged as a single conspiracy.”). Nor did it charge that 
Dean, Daniels, and others acted as a crew of bank robbers, 
or allege any facts indicating that they robbed the various 
banks as part of a common plan or scheme. Rather, the 
indictment alleged three separate bank robberies (and the 
related firearm counts) against different combinations of 
defendants. These allegations are insufficient to support 
joinder under Rule 8(b). See Velasquez, 772 F.2d at 1353 
(holding there was misjoinder of a heroin charge where 
the indictment did not relate that charge “to any of the 
charges against the other defendants named in the 
indictment … “). 

While Counts III–VI of the indictment misjoined Dean 
and Daniels, “an error involving misjoinder ‘affects 
substantial rights’ and requires reversal only if the 
misjoinder results in actual prejudice because it ‘had 
substantial and injurious effect or influence in 
determining the jury’s verdict.’” United States v. Lane, 474 
U.S. 438, 449 (1986) (quoting Kotteakos v. United States, 
328 U.S. 750, 776 (1946)). In determining whether the 
misjoinder had a substantial and injurious effect on the 
jury, courts look to “the presence of instructions requiring 
the jury to consider each defendant separately, the 
likelihood that evidence relating to the misjoined count 
would have been admitted in a separate trial and the 
[strength of the] evidence of the defendant’s guilt in 
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[determining whether] the misjoinder [is] harmless.” 
United States v. Diaz, 876 F.2d 1344, 1356 (7th Cir. 1989) 
(citing Lane, 474 U.S. at 450). With these factors in mind, 
we now explore in more depth the evidence presented at 
the joint trial of Dean and Daniels. 

August 2, 2005 Robbery  

A jury convicted Dean and Daniels of robbing the First 
National Bank in Holland, Illinois on August 2, 2005, and 
with using a firearm in connection with that bank 
robbery. The trial evidence of each defendant’s guilt on 
these charges was overwhelming. The jury heard 
testimony from the supervisor who was working at the 
bank during the robbery. She explained the robbery in 
detail, telling the jury that the three robbers were African-
American males. She also provided a description of each 
and told the jury what they were wearing. The supervisor 
further explained how the robbery took place and told how 
one of the robbers hit her in the head with his gun and 
later struck her in the face while she tried to open the 
vault. After she opened the vault, she explained that the 
robbers put the money in a pillow case and then sprayed 
pepper spray into the bank employees’ faces before fleeing. 
And she confirmed that the robbers were armed. The jury 
also saw a video of the robbery, which the witness 
explained as it was played for the jury. Another bank 
employee also testified that more than $45,000 was stolen 
from the bank. 

While the teller could not identify the robbers, Moore, 
who was one of the robbers, testified at Dean and Daniels’ 
trial. Moore testified at length concerning the planning 
and execution of the robbery and identified Dean, Daniels, 
and Charles Vance, as well as himself, as the robbers. He 
also identified Dean, Daniels, and himself from the bank 
surveillance video. Moore also confirmed that Dean and 
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Daniels both had guns. The details provided by Moore 
matched those testified to earlier by the bank supervisor 
and were also consistent with the video of the robbery. 
Additionally, cell phone records confirmed various cell 
calls between the robbers. The government further 
presented to the jury testimony from an expert witness 
concerning the use of cell towers. After summarizing how 
cell phones use cell towers, the expert witness explained 
that from information concerning which cell tower is being 
used by a cell phone, he can determine the general 
location of the person using the phone. The expert witness 
then testified that a review of the records from the cellular 
companies confirmed that Dean’s cell phone used a cell 
tower directly west of the First National Bank about 18 
minutes before the bank was robbed. (The parties 
challenge the admission of those records, but as discussed 
28–32, they did not preserve that issue for appeal.) 
Additionally, the government presented testimony from 
an employee of an automobile dealer who confirmed that 
on August 3 (the day after the robbery), Dean paid $9,500 
in cash to purchase a Chrysler 300M. The car was placed 
in the name of Shafon Davis, who testified at trial that she 
was Dean’s ex-girlfriend and that he had purchased the 
Chrysler 300M and put the car title in her name. Moore 
also testified that a little over a week after the robbery he 
used money from the robbery to purchase an automobile 
and the government admitted a document of title showing 
Moore’s purchase of that car. And LaChaun Vance, who 
was not involved in the August 2, 2005, robbery, testified 
that Dean had told him in the summer of 2005 that he 
had previously robbed a bank and had hit a lady with a 
gun during that robbery. 

August 25, 2005 Robbery  
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The evidence of Daniels’ guilt on Counts III and IV 
was even more overwhelming. Daniels was charged in 
Count III, along with codefendant Jones, with robbing the 
Bank of Lincolnwood in Skokie, Illinois, on August 25, 
2005. Count IV charged Daniels and Jones with using a 
firearm in connection with that robbery. Jones pleaded 
guilty but did not cooperate with the government and did 
not testify at trial. However, another member of the 
August 25, 2005, crew of bank robbers—LaChaun 
Vance—did testify. Vance, who had pleaded guilty to 
robbing the Bank of Lincolnwood, testified in detail 
concerning Daniels approaching him about participating 
in that robbery. Daniels asked to use Vance’s rental car, a 
Grand Am, as the getaway vehicle. Vance explained to the 
jury that prior to the robbery they surveilled the Bank of 
Lincolnwood, intending to rob it, but that after looking 
around they aborted the plan. The government presented 
evidence to corroborate this testimony, namely evidence 
that on August 22, both Daniels’ and Vance’s cell phones 
utilized the tower near the Bank of Lincolnwood and 
Daniels’ cell phone had used the tower closest to the bank. 

Vance further testified that on the morning of the 
robbery, Daniels and Jones drove to the bank in Vance’s 
rental Grand Am, while he and another robber (Lamont 
Kent) followed in Daniels’ car, a red Malibu. Vance 
identified photographs of all of the robbers involved in the 
August 25, 2005, robbery and explained their roles. He 
also identified Daniels and Jones from still-shot 
photographs made from the bank surveillance video. 
Vance explained that his role was to create a diversion, 
but that he never did. Vance testified that he nonetheless 
called Daniels and falsely said that he had created the 
diversion. Cell phone records confirmed a telephone call 
had been made from Vance’s phone to Daniels’ phone 
during the time Vance claimed to have made the call. The 
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cellular company’s records further showed that two 
minutes before the Bank of Lincolnwood was robbed both 
Vance and Daniels’ cell phones used the cell tower nearest 
to the bank. The government’s expert also testified that in 
reviewing three months of cellular records, other than the 
date of the abortive robbery, August 22, and the date of 
the actual robbery, August 25, Daniels’ cell phone never 
utilized the cellular tower located nearest the bank. 

In addition to Vance’s testimony, the jury also saw the 
video of the robbery and heard testimony from a teller, the 
bank manager and a security guard (who was also an off-
duty police officer). They testified in detail concerning how 
the robbery occurred, explaining that there were two 
robbers who both had guns. The security guard explained 
that the two robbers were African-American and that one 
wore a hat, sunglasses and either a wig or had long 
braided hair. Additionally, the security guard testified 
that one of the robbers took his gun. The bank employees 
also testified that they were pepper-sprayed before the 
robbers left. An internal auditor from the bank testified 
that nearly $80,000 was stolen from the bank on August 
25. 

Vance testified that after the robbery Daniels called 
him and told him he needed to report the Grand Am 
stolen. Vance explained that his aunt, Shari Young, had 
rented the car for him, and that he had tried 
unsuccessfully to contact her on her cell phone. He then 
called his other aunt, Beverly Lewis (Young’s sister), and 
since the sisters worked together, Vance had her go in to 
their employer and bring Young out. Both aunts testified. 
They confirmed Vance’s testimony and that Vance had 
asked Young to report the car stolen. Lewis also testified 
that Vance was with Lamont Kent, and Young testified 
that Vance was driving a red Malibu at the time and she 
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recognized the car as “Dog’s,” which other testimony 
established was Daniels’ nickname. Cell phone records 
likewise confirmed the calls were made as the parties had 
testified and the cellular towers’ records showed Vance’s 
movements through the Chicagoland area mirroring his 
testimony. 

While Vance was trying to track down his aunt, 
Daniels was trying to evade capture: A police officer for 
the Village of Lincolnwood testified that in responding to 
the bank robbery, he spotted a car with an occupant who 
fit the description of the suspect. The police officer 
explained that he gave chase and succeeded in pulling 
over the suspects on an entrance ramp to a freeway. As 
the officer radioed in the license plate number, the driver 
pointed a gun at the officer and then sped away. The 
officer gave pursuit, but lost the Grand Am. The jury saw 
a video captured from the officer’s dash-cam which 
confirmed his testimony. Vance also told the jury that 
when he met up with Daniels later that day, Daniels told 
him that a police officer had pulled him over and that he 
(Daniels) had pulled a gun on him. Vance further testified 
that Daniels said they had then abandoned the Grand Am 
and car-jacked someone, and in doing so left a gun behind 
inside a garbage can. The jury next heard from an elderly 
gentleman who had been car-jacked on August 25, 2005, 
shortly after the bank robbery. He explained that two 
African-Americans stole his 2002 Chevy Malibu. The 
victim of the car-jacking did not attempt to identify the 
perpetrators during the trial; the witness was visually 
impaired. However, he had previously identified from a 
photo array two other individuals as the car-jackers. 
Daniels had not been included in the earlier photo array 
because he was not suspected of being involved in the 
bank robbery at the time. 
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A search of the area surrounding the location of the 
carjacking revealed several pieces of damning evidence: 
The jury heard testimony from an evidence technician 
who responded to the car-jacking site and explained they 
found a gun in the car-jacking victim’s garbage can. The 
bank security guard identified that gun during trial as the 
weapon the robbers had taken from him during the 
August 25, 2005, bank robbery. The evidence technician 
also testified that they recovered a wig, a glove (the right-
hand one from a pair), and a Walgreen’s bag from around 
the corner of the location of the car-jacking. They also 
recovered a pair of gray sweatpants on some nearby 
bushes. The witness also testified that officers recovered a 
lefthand glove (which matched the right-hand glove 
recovered at the scene of the car-jacking) on the freeway 
near where the other officer had pursued the getaway 
vehicle. The government presented additional testimony 
from a forensic scientist who had tested the Walgreen’s 
bag for fingerprints. The expert testified that he had 
recovered five fingerprints from the bag which matched 
Daniels’ fingerprints and five prints which matched Jones’ 
fingerprints. Recall that Vance had testified that Jones 
was the other robber who had entered the bank and who 
fled in the Grand Am with Daniels; Jones had previously 
pleaded guilty to robbing the Bank of Lincolnwood on 
August 25, 2005. And the expert on cellular towers 
testified that Daniels’ cell phone used the cell tower next 
to the car-jacking site about 15 minutes after the bank 
robbery. He further testified that about ten minutes later, 
Daniels’ cell phone used a cell tower nearest to where the 
car-jacked Malibu was later recovered. 

The jury heard additional testimony from an evidence 
technician working for the Village of Skokie Police 
Department. This witness testified that pepper spray, 
sunglasses and a black skull cap were found near the 
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Bank of Lincolnwood on August 25, after the robbery. The 
evidence technician also testified that officers later 
recovered the Grand Am which had been rented by Young 
for Vance. When seized, the Grand Am had on it a license 
plate bearing the same numbers as those recorded by the 
officer who had stopped the car on the onramp to the 
freeway (as confirmed by a still-shot from the dash-cam). 
However, a search of that vehicle revealed another set of 
license plates in the trunk—the ones which matched the 
rental company’s records. Vance had previously testified 
that Lamont Kent (the fourth individual involved in the 
robbery) had discussed with him the idea of stealing 
license plates from another car and replacing the license 
plates on the rental car. The morning of the robbery, while 
he waited with Kent in Daniels’ Malibu, he saw Daniels 
and Jones putting the license plate on the Grand Am. The 
forensic scientist testified that he recovered from the 
license plates five fingerprints which belonged to Lamont 
Kent. 

The evidence technician further testified that a search 
of the Grand Am revealed a grey cap, sunglasses, two 
guns, a pepper-spray holder, a red ball cap, a black skull 
cap, additional skull caps in the package, a orange-brown 
shirt, a grey shirt, and a black leather glove. Another 
forensic scientist testified that DNA recovered from the 
grey shirt found inside the Grand Am matched Daniels’ 
DNA and “[t]he random match probability, which is the 
probability of selecting a random individual from the 
population who would also match this major contributor 
profile, is one in three trillion from the African American 
population … .” She also testified that DNA found on the 
black skull cap matched that of Jones. 

December 20, 2005 Robbery  
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Count V charged Dean with robbing the First Bank in 
Chicago, Illinois, on December 20, 2005, and Count VI 
charged Dean with using a firearm during that robbery. 
As discussed below, the evidence of Dean’s involvement in 
the December 20, 2005, armed bank robbery was 
overwhelming. (Dean was acquitted of the firearm charge 
in Count VI.) 

The evidence concerning the December 20, 2005, 
robbery included testimony by Moore. Moore had been 
charged with both the August 2, 2005, and December 20, 
2005, bank robberies and had pleaded guilty. As detailed 
above, Moore testified concerning the August 2, 2005 
robbery. See supra at 7–9. Moore also explained in detail 
the planning and execution of the December 20, 2005, 
robbery and identified Dean, Wilbon, and himself as the 
robbers. He also identified Dean, Wilbon, and himself 
from still photographs taken from the bank’s video 
surveillance system. A teller at the bank also testified in 
detail about the robbery, identified the robbers as three 
African- American males, and described their clothing. 
The jury also saw the video from the bank surveillance 
camera, which the teller explained as it was playing. The 
teller noted that the robbers put the money in a pillow 
case and pepper-sprayed the tellers. And Moore testified 
they took a pink pillow case into the bank to use during 
the robbery. Another teller testified that over $187,000 
was stolen that day. 

Additionally, Moore testified that prior to entering the 
bank, Dean removed two guns from a hidden 
compartment in the Chrysler 300. The government later 
presented evidence that during a traffic stop of Dean, 
about two weeks after the robbery, a search of his 
Chrysler 300 uncovered two handguns in a hidden 
compartment in the dashboard. Dean admitted to police 
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that these guns belonged to him. (Dean challenged their 
admission at trial, but as discussed infra at 27–28, the 
district court did not err in admitting the guns into 
evidence.) 

The government also presented testimony from an 
employee of a car dealership who, less than a month after 
the robbery, sold a Lincoln Navigator to a woman named 
Nicole Gibson (who was with an unidentified man) for 
$6,500 cash, plus a Chrysler 300 as a trade-in. Gibson 
testified that Dean had purchased the car in her name 
and also later bought accessories for the car. An employee 
at an automobile accessory business also testified that in 
late 2005 or early 2006, Dean had purchased automotive 
accessories for a Lincoln Navigator and a Chevy Caprice, 
including a sound and video system, and Lamborghini 
doors, at a cost of approximately $18,000, and that Dean 
had paid cash. Gibson also testified that on January 6, 
2006, someone brought her $20,000 on Dean’s behalf to 
bail him out of jail. Dean gave another ex-girlfriend, 
Shafon Davis, $6,000 to bond out Wilbon. Davis also 
testified that on December 20, 2005 (the same day as the 
robbery), Dean bought her a Buick Riviera, paying $5,500 
in cash. 

In addition to these witnesses, the government also 
subpoenaed a friend of Dean’s named Stanford Stogner. 
Stogner testified that in the winter of 2005, Dean and 
Wilbon and a third individual, whom he did not know, 
came to his house in a gold Chrysler 300. They brought in 
a pillow case that had in it what looked “[l]ike a million 
bucks.” Stogner testified that they were sorting the money 
and that the cash still had the bands on it. 

As the above detailed discussion demonstrates, the 
evidence of Dean and Daniels’ guilt for each of the 
respective counts of conviction was overwhelming. Each 
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defendant was identified by another participant in the 
robbery: Moore identified Dean and Daniels as 
perpetrators of the August 2 robbery and Dean as a 
perpetrator of the December 20 robbery; Vance identified 
Daniels as the other perpetrator of the August 25 robbery. 
Moore and Vance’s testimony concerning the execution of 
the robberies was consistent with the bank employees’ 
testimony, as well as the video recordings. Cell phone 
records further corroborated the witness testimony 
concerning the events leading up to and following the 
robberies, and an expert witness tied the defendants’ cell 
phones to cellular towers located near the banks at the 
time of the robbery and near the car-jacking site at the 
time of the carjacking. Testimony by Vance’s aunts also 
corroborated his testimony concerning the Grand Am 
used during the August 25 robbery. DNA and fingerprint 
evidence further tied Daniels to the August 25 robbery. 
The cash purchases of cars (and car accessories) quickly 
followed the robberies, and there was also a flush of cash 
available to provide bail. And a friend of Dean saw him 
with Wilbon and another man splitting a large amount of 
money around the time of the December 20 robbery. This 
money was brought into the house in a pillowcase—and 
several witnesses testified that the robbers had used 
pillow cases during the robbery. Evidence also tied 
Daniels to the carjacking where further evidence of the 
robbery was found, including the security guard’s gun. 
While much evidence came in concerning counts 
unrelated to each defendant, the evidence of guilt was 
overwhelming. 

Moreover, the district court provided the jury with a 
detailed instruction making clear that each count and 
defendant must be judged separately: 
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Each count of the indictment charges the 
defendants with having committed separate 
offenses. You must give separate 
consideration both to each count and to each 
defendant. Your verdict of guilty or not guilty 
of an offense charged in one count should not 
control your decision as to any other count. 
You must consider each count and the 
evidence relating to it separate and apart 
from every other count. You should return a 
separate verdict as to each defendant and as 
to each count. Your verdict of guilty or not 
guilty of an offense charged in one count 
should not control your decision as to that 
defendant under any other count. 

A jury can easily understand that evidence related to 
the August 25 robbery does not establish guilt for the 
August 2 or December 20 robbery. In fact, the jury’s 
acquittal of Dean of the gun charge in Count VI shows 
that the jury methodically considered the evidence for 
each count and charge separately.1  

In response Dean and Daniels point to a statement the 
district court made during trial that the remaining 
evidence that day would apply to the entire case, when the 

                                                 
1  The bank employee who testified about the December 20 

bank robbery only identified “Robber One” as being armed. 
Moore had identified Robber One as Wilbon. Further, in 
presenting the surveillance video to the jury, the government 
highlighted the fact that Robber One had a gun, but did not 
likewise point to a display of a weapon by the other robbers. 
Conversely, with both the August 2 and August 25 robberies, 
the bank employees testified that both robbers were armed and 
the videos confirmed the presence of weapons. 
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evidence only applied to the December 20 bank robbery 
charges against Dean. Again, some additional facts are 
needed: Prior to the start of trial, Dean’s attorney had 
asked the district court to instruct the jury that certain 
evidence was only related to the August 25 robbery 
charges against Daniels. The district court agreed and 
before calling each witness, the government informed the 
court whether the evidence pertained to Dean alone, or to 
both defendants, and where appropriate the district court 
instructed the jury, as follows: “[T]he testimony of the next 
witness and some of the following witnesses will pertain 
only to the August 2005, robbery of the Bank of 
Lincolnwood in Skokie, Illinois. Defendant Dahveed Dean 
is not charged with the August 25, 2005, robbery … .” 

The district court gave the above instruction prior to 
each witness who the government noted was to testify 
about the August 25, 2005, robbery. However, one 
afternoon, prior to presenting its final witnesses for the 
day, the government informed the district court that the 
instruction was not needed. 

The district court then instructed the jury that the 
evidence pertained to the entire case. The upcoming 
witnesses, though, pertained to only the December 20 
robbery charges against Dean. However, neither Dean’s 
nor Daniels’ attorney objected to this statement. And 
given that the jury was later told that it must consider 
each count separately, and given the overwhelming 
evidence of guilt, we conclude that this misstep did not 
prejudice the defendants. 

Dean also claims that there were two instances where 
the district court wrongly informed the jury that 
upcoming evidence would apply to the entire case, when 
the evidence focused mostly on Daniels’ role in the August 
25 bank robbery. Technically, the district court should 
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have said that some of the testimony would apply to some 
counts and some testimony to other counts, but again, 
given the later instruction to consider the counts 
separately and given the overwhelming evidence, we 
conclude that Dean was not prejudiced by this statement. 
Rather, the overwhelming evidence of Dean and Daniels’ 
guilt on the respective counts convinces us that there was 
no prejudice stemming from the misjoinder of Counts III–
VI. 

B.  Exclusion of Daniels from Trial  

Daniels next challenges his exclusion from trial. While 
a defendant has a right to be present at every stage of 
trial, that right is not absolute. Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 
337, 338 342–43 (1970); United States v. Benabe, 654 F.3d 
753, 767–68 (7th Cir. 2011). A defendant may impliedly 
waive his right to attend trial if “after he has been warned 
by the judge that he will be removed if he continues his 
disruptive behavior, he nevertheless insists on conducting 
himself in a manner so disorderly, disruptive, and 
disrespectful that his trial cannot be carried on with him 
in the courtroom.” Allen, 397 U.S. at 343; Benabe, 654 
F.3d at 768 (noting a defendant may waive right to be 
present either by consent or misconduct). Further, a court 
dealing with an incorrigible defendant “must be given 
sufficient discretion to meet the circumstances of each 
case. No one formula for maintaining the appropriate 
courtroom atmosphere will be best in all situations.” Allen, 
397 U.S. at 343. 

In this case, prior to trial, even though he was 
represented by counsel, Daniels began filing pro se 
documents with the district court claiming he was not 
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subject to the government’s jurisdiction.2 The district court 
held a hearing to address Daniels’ filings, at which he 
asked Daniels if he no longer wanted to be represented by 
his attorney. Rather than responding, Daniels continued 
rambling about his status as a security interest holder. 
After stating he found no reason to replace Daniels’ 
attorney, the district court told Daniels that he “may 
attend the trial because that’s his right to attend the trial,” 
but that “if he demonstrates any indication that he will be 
disruptive during the trial, the Court will take appropriate 
action and it could include … barring him from the 
courtroom if he is disruptive … .” The court further told 
Daniels that he could only file documents through counsel, 
but Daniels continued to submit pro se filings again using 
the boilerplate language of the “sovereign citizen 
movement.” 

Then at a status hearing held on August 29, 2012, 
while the court was addressing the government’s pretrial 
motions, Daniels raised his hand to speak. The court 
explained that it does not “entertain questions from 
defendants who are represented by counsel,” to which 
Daniels responded, “I’m not represented by him.” The 
court then asked Daniels’ attorney if he had anything to 
raise and his attorney replied: “I am not asking to address 
the Court at this time, Judge.” The district court then 

                                                 
2  Daniels’ filings have “the earmarks of the ‘Sovereign 

Citizens’ movement,” El v. AmeriCredit Financial Services, Inc., 
710 F.3d 748 (7th Cir. 2013), which, according to the FBI, 
purports to “believe the government is operating outside of its 
jurisdiction and generally do not recognize federal, state, or 
local laws, policies, or governmental regulations.” 
http://info.publicintelligence.net/FBI-SovereignCitizens.pdf. 
This movement often recruits in prisons. Id. 
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said: “There will be no addressing the Court then by 
defendants unless their lawyer addresses the Court.” 
After some additional discussion concerning pretrial 
matters, the district court adjourned the hearing, at which 
point Daniels yelled twice, “[a]re you denying me my right 
to speak?” A minute order issued after the hearing stated 
that Daniels “persisted in his behavior and appeared to 
refuse to leave the courtroom even after the court 
indicated that the matter had concluded, at which point 
the United States Deputy Marshals had to forcibly escort 
Daniels from the courtroom.” In the minute order, the 
court “again warned that further disruptions by Daniels 
during any of the proceedings related to this case, 
including the trial, may result in his exclusion from the 
courtroom during trial.”  

Later during a pretrial conference, the court addressed 
Daniels’ attorney, stating: 

Since there were certain incidents that 
happened previously in this court relating to 
your client and I made a statement that … if 
any defendant to that matter, if any party, 
including a special agent of the FBI acts 
disruptive, I will remove the person from the 
courtroom. And as I stated, your client has 
every right to be in the courtroom. … and I 
hope he exercises that right and stays in the 
courtroom. And if he decides that he does not 
want to be civil in the courtroom and let the 
procedures take place, then I need to know 
that right now. 

Daniels’ attorney replied: “I believe he has a right to be 
here as the Court stated and I would just leave it at that 
at this point.” The district court said: “No, I’m not going to 
leave it at that,” and had Daniels step up. Daniels refused 
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to be sworn in, again claiming sovereign status. The court 
told him “during the trial, you’ll have to act in a civil 
manner. And if any time during the trial you decide to be 
disruptive, which I hope you don’t, then I will have no 
alternative but to consider that you have surrendered 
your right to be in the courtroom during your trial … .” 
The court asked Daniels if he had “anything to say about 
that,” to which Daniels responded, “Yes. I conditionally 
accept your offer that trial is not needed. Pending my 
ongoing private administrative remedy will make any 
proceedings along with this trial moot and I do not 
participate in any of the public benefits which this court 
have to offer.” After some more nonresponsive babbling, 
the court asked Daniels: “Do you promise to sit in court 
without being disruptive?” Daniels again refused to 
answer. The court tried again, stating: “I just want to 
make sure that you agree to be not disruptive. And if you 
could make that promise to me, then I will allow you to be 
present in the courtroom.” Daniels again refused to 
respond, so the court told Daniels the he would be 
excluded from trial, but also informed Daniels’ attorney 
that, “if your client decides before Monday to agree to tell 
the Court that he will not be disruptive, then he will be 
most welcome to do so and be present for the trial in 
person.” 

On Monday, when the jury venire was ready, the 
district court ordered Daniels to appear to revisit the 
question of whether Daniels would be barred during the 
trial. The district court began by summarizing Daniels’ 
past misconduct and then stated that he would have 
Daniels sworn in and then ask if he would promise to 
behave during the trial. The district court directed Daniels 
twice to raise his hand to be sworn in, but Daniels did not 
comply. At that point the Marshal directly asked him “Are 
you going to raise your hand?” and Daniels said “No.” 
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Daniels then began reading nonsense from a prepared 
script. This passage is illustrative of the totality of his 
comments: “I conditionally accept upon proof of claim that 
as a secure party creditor and a holder in due course have 
I not tendered payment with the CFO and the clerk of this 
Court to discharge all debts and liabilities and obligation 
of the defendant according to the commercial code of this 
state, UCC 3-603. And upon proof of claim that with no 
outstanding charges, the defendant, Terry Daniels, I move 
the Court to enforce the laws of the state to discharge the 
collateral — namely, myself — and set at liberty now. Are 
you refusing my tender of payment, Judge?” 

When Daniels stopped rambling, the district court 
explained to Daniels that he had a constitutional right to 
be present during the trial, but that with his conduct he 
was surrendering that right. The district court then gave 
him one last opportunity to assure the court that he would 
“obey the Court’s rules and not disrupt this Court’s 
proceedings no matter what [he] believe[d] [his] sovereign 
status, quote/unquote, is.” The district court then said: 
“What I’m going to ask you one more time: Are you able 
and do you promise to not disrupt this trial?” Daniels 
responded again with his nonsensical ramblings: “I 
conditionally accept your offer upon proof of claim—” At 
that point the district court barred Daniels from trial, but 
stressed that “when he obeys this Court’s orders and 
raises his hand, is sworn in and promises this Court that 
he will not be disruptive and not cause an unfair trial for 
his codefendant Mr. Dean and to the government, then he 
will be allowed to return to the courtroom.” 

Daniels’ obstinacy held firm and he neither attended 
trial nor watched trial on the video feed. At the conclusion 
of the government’s case, the district court had Daniels 
brought back to court to inform him of his right to testify 
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and to confirm that he intended to waive that right, as 
Daniels’ attorney had represented. Even at this point, 
Daniels refused to raise his hand and be sworn in and, as 
the following exchange shows, belligerently refused to 
respond to the district court’s inquiry: 

Court: Now your lawyer, Mr. Clarke, has told 
me that you have told him that you do not 
wish to testify at your trial. Is this correct, sir? 

Daniels: I conditionally accept your offer upon 
proof of claim that trial is not needed pending 
my ongoing—ongoing private administrative 
remedy and that being a tender of payment, 
it’s already been made with the CFO and the 
clerk of court to discharge all debts and 
liabilities and obligations of the defendant. 
And according with the commercial code of 
this state, UCC 3603, (sic) and upon proof of 
claim there were no outstanding charges 
against the Defendant Terry Daniels, I move 
this Court to enforce the laws of the state to 
discharge the collateral, namely myself, and 
to be set at liberty immediately. 

After several unsuccessful attempts to seek Daniels’ 
confirmation that he did not want to testify at trial, the 
district court ruled that Daniels had waived his right to 
testify. 

The above summary is merely a glimpse of Daniels’ 
belligerent behavior. The district court was exceedingly 
patient with Daniels and gave him more than ample 
opportunity to attend his trial. But when, after being 
warned that he would forfeit his right to attend trial, 
Daniels refused outright to be sworn in and assure the 
court that his conduct would not continue during trial, the 
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district court had no option but to hold that Daniels had 
forfeited his right to attend trial. 

Further, in holding that Daniels had forfeited his right 
to attend trial, the district court scrupulously followed our 
guidance in United States v. Benabe, 654 F.3d 753 (7th 
Cir. 2011). In Benabe, we explained that a defendant may 
impliedly waive his right to be present at trial if, after he 
is initially present at trial, he exhibits a pattern of 
disruptive misconduct that justifies removal. Id. at 771. 
Benabe also explained that a defendant is “initially 
present at trial” if he is present on the day that jury 
selection began. Id. at 771–72. Thus, in this case, on the 
day jury selection began the district court called Daniels 
back once more to allow him the opportunity to participate 
in the upcoming court proceedings. But as detailed above, 
Daniels again refused to be sworn in or provide any 
assurance that he would not disrupt the proceedings, 
notwithstanding the court’s warning that his refusal to do 
so would result in him being barred from trial. And 
significantly, Daniels’ refusal to provide these assurances 
came after he had previously disrupted the court 
proceedings by yelling twice at the judge, before being 
removed by the marshals. Given the defendant’s previous 
outburst, the district court reasonably sought assurances 
from Daniels that he would not repeat that behavior 
during trial. But Daniels refused to even be sworn in! 
Under these circumstances, the district court did not 
abuse its discretion in barring Daniels from trial. 

C.  Evidentiary Rulings  

On appeal, Dean and Daniels also present several 
challenges to evidentiary rulings, two of which we 
previously mentioned. See supra at 8, 15. We begin with 
those. 
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Admission of Handguns  

First, Dean challenges the admission of two handguns 
police recovered during a traffic stop that occurred on 
January 3, 2006. Dean does not challenge the validity of 
the stop or the search that uncovered the two handguns 
from a trap compartment in the dashboard of his Chrysler 
300. Rather, Dean argues that the guns should not have 
been admitted into evidence because the evidence was 
irrelevant since there was no direct evidence that those 
guns were the ones used during the robberies. Dean also 
argues the admission of the guns was inadmissible 
character evidence and unfairly prejudicial. This court 
reviews the district court’s evidentiary rulings for an 
abuse of discretion. United States v. Volpendesto, 746 F.3d 
273, 287 (7th Cir. 2014). 

The district court did not abuse its discretion in 
admitting the guns into evidence. At trial, Moore, who was 
also charged with the December 20, 2005, robbery, 
testified that just before that robbery, Dean removed two 
guns from a trap in the dashboard of his Chrysler 300. 
That police recovered two guns from a hidden 
compartment in Dean’s car slightly over two weeks after 
the December 20, 2005, robbery was relevant to Dean’s 
guilt on both the robbery and the use of a weapon counts. 
It was relevant to the robbery count because it 
corroborated Moore’s testimony concerning the details of 
the December 20, 2005, robbery. It was relevant to the 
weapons count (and not improper character evidence) 
because a jury could reasonably infer, given the location of 
the guns and closeness in time of the seizure to the 
robbery, that the guns recovered were the guns used 
during the robbery. Further, there was no undue prejudice 
flowing from the admission of the guns—the government 
did not attempt to portray Dean as a bad guy because he 
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possessed guns; the government used the evidence to 
corroborate Moore’s testimony and to attempt to establish 
Dean’s guilt on the weapons count. In the end, though, 
even with this evidence, the jury acquitted Dean of the 
gun charges related to the December 20, 2005, robbery. 
But there was no error in admitting the gun evidence in 
the first instance. 

Admission of Evidence Related to Cellular 
Towers  

As detailed above, at trial the government presented 
evidence concerning cellular telephone calls made by the 
bank robbers and the location of the cell towers used for 
those calls. The government obtained this information 
from Dean and Daniels’ cellular providers pursuant to a 
court order issued under 18 U.S.C. § 2703(d). The Stored 
Communications Act authorizes the government to obtain 
a court order requiring “a provider of electronic 
communication service … to disclose a record or other 
information pertaining to a subscriber to … such service 
(not including the contents of communications).” 18 U.S.C. 
§ 2703(c). A judge “shall issue” the order only if the 
government “offers specific and articulable facts showing 
that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the … 
records or other information sought [] are relevant and 
material to an ongoing criminal investigation.” Id. 
§ 2703(d). 

On appeal, Dean and Daniels do not challenge the 
issuance of the court order, but rather claim that the 
Fourth Amendment required the government to obtain a 
warrant, upon a showing of probable cause, to obtain the 
cell tower location information. They contend that a court 
order based merely on “specific and articulable facts,” as 
allowed by § 2703(d), which in essence is a reasonable 
suspicion standard, In re U.S. for an Order Pursuant to 18 
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U.S.C. Section 2703(D), 707 F.3d 283, 287 (4th Cir. 2013), 
violates their Fourth Amendment rights. 

“We have yet to address whether … cell-tower 
information that telecommunication carriers collect is 
protected by the Fourth Amendment.” United States v. 
Thousand, 558 Fed. Appx. 666, 670 (7th Cir. 2014). To 
date, three circuits have directly addressed this issue. The 
Eleventh Circuit in an en banc decision, United States v. 
Davis, 785 F.3d 498 (11th Cir. 2015) (en banc), and the 
Fifth Circuit in In re United States for Historical Cell Site 
Data, 724 F.3d 600 (5th Cir. 2013), both held that the 
defendants did not have a reasonable expectation of 
privacy in the cellular company’s records of the cell towers 
utilized by their cell phones. Davis, 785 F.3d at 511; 
Historical Cell Site Data, 724 F.3d at 611–13. Conversely, 
the Fourth Circuit in United States v. Graham, 796 F.3d 
332, 338 (4th Cir. 2015), held that the “warrantless 
procurement of the [cell site location information] was an 
unreasonable search in violation of Appellants’ Fourth 
Amendment rights.” Graham, though, nonetheless upheld 
the district court’s denial of the defendants’ motion to 
suppress the cell tower location information “because the 
government relied in good faith on court orders issued in 
accordance with Title II of the Electronic Communications 
Privacy Act, or the Stored Communications Act (“SCA”) … 
. “ Id. 

Today, however, is not the day to take sides in this 
circuit split because neither Dean nor Daniels filed a 
motion to suppress the cell tower location information in 
the district court. Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 
12(b)(3) identifies a “motion to suppress evidence” as a 
motion that must be made before trial. Fed. R. Crim. P. 
12(b)(3). At the time of Dean and Daniels’ trial, Rule 12(e) 
further provided that “[a] party waives any Rule 12(b)(3) 
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defense, objection, or request not raised by the deadline 
the court sets under Rule 12(c) or by any extension the 
court provides.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3). However, 
“waiver,” as used in Rule 12(e), did not mean the 
intentional relinquishment of a known right. United 
States v. Johnson, 415 F.3d 728, 730 (7th Cir. 2005). 
Nonetheless, it barred appellate review unless the 
defendant established good cause for failing to file a 
motion to suppress. United States v. Acox, 595 F.3d 729, 
731 (7th Cir. 2010) (quoting Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(e)); United 
States v. Murdock, 491 F.3d 694, 698 (7th Cir. 2007); 
Johnson, 415 F.3d at 730–31. 

While this appeal was pending, Rule 12 was amended, 
and “[t]he provision addressing the effect of a failure to 
raise an issue in a pretrial motion, formerly found in Rule 
12(e), was relocated to Rule 12(c)(3), effective December 1, 
2014.” United States v. McMillian, 786 F.3d 630, 636 n.3 
(7th Cir. 2015). The revised rule deleted the reference to 
“waiver,” because “the rule [did] not contemplate waiver 
as that term is traditionally used in criminal cases.” 
McMillian, 786 F.3d at 636 n.3 (citing Fed. R. Crim. P. 
12(c), Advisory Committee’s Note), and now provides: “If a 
party does not meet the deadline for making a Rule 
12(b)(3) motion, the motion is untimely. But a court may 
consider the defense, objection, or request if the party 
shows good cause.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(c)(3). While Rule 
12(c)(3) deleted the reference to “waiver,” “the amendment 
did not alter the applicable standard,” McMillian, 786 
F.3d at 636 n.3, which means that “[b]efore a court may 
consider an untimely motion to suppress, ‘a defendant 
must first establish good cause for the absence of a 
pretrial motion.’” McMillian, 786 F.3d at 636 (quoting 
Acox, 595 F.3d at 731). 
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On appeal, Dean and Daniels argue they had good 
cause for failing to bring a motion to suppress because the 
legal authority supporting their argument was not 
decided until after pre-trial proceedings were completed. 
But nothing prevented Dean and Daniels from presenting 
a Fourth Amendment argument to the district court in a 
motion to suppress the cell tower location evidence. The 
defendants knew all they needed to know in order to make 
the Fourth Amendment argument, as one of first 
impression. That additional case law later is handed down 
which may better support an argument does not 
constitute “good cause” for failing to make a constitutional 
argument in a motion to suppress within the deadline 
established by the court. Or more precisely, we hold that 
the district court would not have abused its discretion had 
it found good cause lacking. See McMillian, 786 F.3d at 
636 n.4 (explaining that where a defendant does not 
present a timely motion to suppress to the district court 
and seek to establish good cause, “we ask whether the 
district court would have abused its discretion had it 
denied a request to present an untimely motion”). 
Accordingly, because the defendants did not file a motion 
to suppress the cell tower location evidence on Fourth 
Amendment grounds, and because good cause does not 
excuse that lapse, we cannot consider their argument on 
appeal.3  

                                                 
3  Further, even if we were to consider the issue and adopt the 

Fourth Circuit’s approach in Graham, 796 F.3d 332, it would 
not benefit Dean and Daniels because, as in Graham, the cell 
tower location evidence would still be admissible under the good 
faith exception. Id. at 338. Prudentially, too, it is best to leave 
this issue for another day when the court may benefit from full 
briefing and argument—which isn’t the case here as two of the 
three circuit decisions directly on point were handed down 
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Admission of Evidence Seized During An 
October 7, 2005 Search of Dean’s Automobile  

Prior to trial, Dean moved to suppress evidence 
recovered during an October 7, 2005, search of his 
automobile, claiming the police lacked probable cause to 
arrest him and that the subsequent search of the car was 
unconstitutional. To understand Dean’s argument, some 
additional facts are needed. 

On October 6, 2005, Chicago Police Officer Rick Green 
spoke with a confidential informant who stated that 
“Davi” had recently told the confidential informant that he 
(“Davi”) had participated in several bank robberies within 
the past few months. The confidential informant likewise 
identified Vance (by his nickname) as involved in the bank 
robberies. “Davi” also told the confidential informant that 
they used wigs to conceal their identities and mace to 
blind the bank employees. “Davi” further told the 
confidential informant that he planned to rob another 
bank the next day. The confidential informant told Officer 
Green that he knew “Davi” from the neighborhood, that 
“Davi” lived in the area of 90th and Cottage Grove and 
drove a gold Chrysler 300M. Officer Green searched the 
Chicago Police Department database trying to identify the 
individual and after pulling 10–15 photographs the 
confidential informant identified Dahveed Dean as “Davi.” 
The Chicago Police department contacted the FBI and the 
FBI then spoke with the confidential informant. 

At the time that the FBI interviewed the confidential 
informant, it had already been investigating the August 
                                                                                                    
following briefing and oral argument. Davis, 785 F.3d 498 
(decided May 5, 2015); Graham, 796 F.3d 332 (decided Aug. 5, 
2015). 
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25, 2005, robbery and knew that the robbery had been 
committed by two armed African-American males, one of 
whom appeared to be wearing a wig, and that the robbers 
used pepper spray. The FBI had also already interviewed 
Young (LaChaun Vance’s aunt who had rented the Grand 
Am used as the getaway car), and the FBI believed Vance 
was involved in the earlier robbery. And from their earlier 
investigation, the FBI knew that Vance was friends with 
Dean. 

The next day, officers surveilled the area where Dean’s 
car was parked. They saw Dean and another individual 
(later identified as Moore) meet, get in another car, then 
leave the area. Surveillance followed the duo and they 
later returned to the area and got in Dean’s car. The 
surveillance continued throughout the morning and at one 
point Detective Green saw Dean and Moore parked 
outside a wig shop, where they met with two other 
individuals. 

At some point, the officers lost surveillance of Dean’s 
car for about an hour. After losing sight of Dean, they 
learned that a bank robbery had just happened elsewhere 
in Chicago. Officers later saw Dean’s car return to the wig 
shop, at which time they stopped it and arrested Dean 
and Moore. Dean signed a written consent to search the 
car. During a search of the car, officers recovered a wig, a 
pair of sunglasses, latex gloves, a nylon skull cap, a pink 
pillow case, and pepper spray. 

During questioning, Moore admitted that they were 
going to rob a bank, but assured the officers he would 
never get involved in anything like that again. Dean and 
Moore were eventually released without being charged 
because, as it turned out, they had abandoned their plan 
to rob a bank that day and were not involved in the actual 
bank robbery that had occurred. It is unclear whether at 
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the time the officers arrested Dean and Moore they 
believed the duo had participated in the recent bank 
robbery, or had received other information indicating that 
different perpetrators were involved. 

At trial, officers involved in the October 7 surveillance 
testified concerning the surveillance and the evidence 
seized from Dean’s car was admitted into evidence. Dean 
contends that it was error to admit that evidence because 
probable cause did not support his arrest and that the 
search of his car was unconstitutional. Dean had moved to 
suppress this evidence before trial, so we review the 
district court’s factual findings for clear error and 
questions of law de novo. United States v. Lemmons, 282 
F.3d 920, 923–24 (7th Cir 2002). 

The officers who arrested Dean did not have an arrest 
warrant, but an officer may make a warrantless arrest 
consistent with the Fourth Amendment if there is 
“probable cause to believe that a crime has been 
committed.” Washington v. Haupert, 481 F.3d 543, 547 
(7th Cir. 2007). “An officer has probable cause to make an 
arrest only when the facts and circumstances within his 
knowledge and of which he has reasonably trustworthy 
information are sufficient to warrant a prudent person in 
believing that the suspect has committed an offense.” 
Reher v. Vivo, 656 F.3d 772, 776 (7th Cir. 2011). Courts 
look to a totality of the circumstances, and ask whether a 
reasonable officer would believe that the suspect had 
committed a crime. Jones v. City of Elkhart, Ind., 737 F.3d 
1107, 1114 (7th Cir. 2013). 

In this case, there was probable cause to support 
Dean’s arrest for either attempting to commit bank 
robbery or conspiring to commit bank robbery. “It is well 
settled that probable cause can be established by an 
informant’s tip along with corroboration by police work.” 
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United States v. Banks, 405 F.3d 559, 570 (7th Cir. 2005). 
Here, the officers had information which corroborated the 
informant’s tip that Dean had previously been involved in 
bank robberies. Those robberies involved African- 
American perpetrators who pepper-sprayed the tellers. 
And from their investigation, the officers knew Dean was 
friends with Vance and that Vance was connected to the 
Grand Am used during the August 25, 2005, robbery. 
Surveillance on the morning of the robbery further 
corroborated the tip that Dean was preparing to rob a 
bank that day, as officers saw the duo parked outside a 
wig shop and Moore was seen inside the wig shop. The 
officers knew that a wig had been used in the prior bank 
robbery. The totality of circumstances supported a finding 
of probable cause to arrest Dean and accordingly the 
subsequent search was constitutional. 

Further, if the evidence seized from Dean’s car on 
October 7, 2005, was improperly admitted, any error 
would be harmless. In discussing the overwhelming 
evidence supporting the convictions above, we did not 
even consider the additional evidence seized from Dean’s 
car on October 8 which corroborated Moore’s account of 
the robberies, because the other evidence was 
overwhelming. United States v. Manganellis, 864 F.2d 
528, 539 (7th Cir. 1988) (“An error is harmless if the other 
untainted incriminating evidence is overwhelming.”). 

D.  The Disgruntled Juror  

As noted, the jury convicted Daniels on two counts of 
bank robbery and two counts of using a firearm in the 
commission of a bank robbery, and Dean on two counts of 
bank robbery and one count of using a firearm in the 
commission of a bank robbery. The verdict form was 
signed by all twelve jurors and dated. Each juror was 
polled and asked, “Was this and is this now your verdict?” 
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Each answered affirmatively. However, later that day a 
juror went to the court’s chambers and told a staff 
member: “I cannot live with myself knowing what I did. I 
felt bullied into making the decision that I made.” Over 
the weekend, the juror left a message on the court’s 
voicemail stating: “I wanted to pretty much change my 
verdict to not guilty because I feel I was bullied and 
railroaded in the jury deliberation process and I, for one, 
cannot live with the verdict that I—I guess handed down.” 
A court security officer (“CSO”) also told Daniels’ attorney 
that he had seen the juror complaining of a panic attack 
and sitting in the hallway near the jury deliberation room. 

Daniels and Dean filed a motion for a mistrial and 
asked the court to question the juror about her comments 
and also about her leaving the jury room. The court 
decided that there was no evidence that the juror had 
been subjected to outside influences or a physical threat, 
and thus no grounds under Rule 606(b) for questioning 
the juror.4 The judge also informed the parties that he had 
                                                 

4  Federal Rule of Evidence 606(b) provides: 
(b) During an Inquiry Into the Validity of a Verdict or 

Indictment. 
(1) Prohibited Testimony or Other Evidence. During 

an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment, a 
juror may not testify about any statement made or 
incident that occurred during the jury’s deliberations; the 
effect of anything on that juror’s or another juror’s vote; or 
any juror’s mental processes concerning the verdict or 
indictment. The court may not receive a juror’s affidavit or 
evidence of a juror’s statement on these matters. 

(2) Exceptions. A juror may testify about whether: 
(A) extraneous prejudicial information was improperly 

brought to the jury’s attention; 
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on one occasion seen the juror step out of the jury room, 
but that the juror had said to the CSO “that the jury had 
already reached a verdict so why couldn’t she step out.” 
The court further stated that it had asked the CSO if the 
juror had left the room on any other occasion and the CSO 
told the court that the juror had left a second time, but 
that was also after the jury had reached a verdict and it 
was on that occasion she had made the comment about an 
“anxiety attack” or “panic attack.” 

Daniels and Dean claim that the district court erred by 
not questioning the juror to determine if by “bullied” she 
meant that she had been subjected to outside influence or 
physical violence. They argue that her statement was 
ambiguous and that further inquiry was thus needed. 
However, nothing the juror said raised the possibility of 
an outside influence. She spoke of being bullied and 
railroaded in the “deliberation process.” And she said “she 
felt bullied.” While in his initial consideration of the issue 
the district court noted that her statements might indicate 
physical bullying or outside influences, after considering 
arguments from the parties, the district court reached a 
contrary conclusion. There was just no evidence of outside 
influence or a threat of physical harm, or that the juror 
was absent during deliberations or was mentally 
incompetent. Under these circumstances, we cannot say 
that the district court abused its discretion in refusing to 
further question the juror. See United States v. Briggs, 291 

                                                                                                    
(B) an outside influence was improperly brought to 

bear on any juror; or 
(C) a mistake was made in entering the verdict on the 

verdict form. 
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F.3d 958, 961–62 (7th Cir. 2002) (holding the district court 
did not err in denying a hearing where a juror claimed she 
had been “intimidated” by other jurors because the juror 
“did not allege that any extraneous prejudicial 
information was brought to the jury’s attention or that 
any outside influence was brought to bear on any 
juror[ ]”); United States v. Ford, 840 F.2d 460, 465 (7th 
Cir. 1988) (holding the district court did not err in denying 
a hearing where a juror had alleged “extreme and 
excessive pressure on individuals to change votes,” 
because there was no claim of “external influence”); 
Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107, 119 (1987) 
(“[C]ourts have refused to set aside a verdict, or even to 
make further inquiry, unless there be proof of an 
adjudication of insanity or mental incompetence closely in 
advance … of jury service [or] proof of a closely 
contemporaneous and independent post-trial adjudication 
of incompetency.”). 

III. 

While the government misjoined Dean and Daniels in 
a single indictment which charged some unrelated counts 
of bank robbery and using a firearm in connection with a 
bank robbery, that error was harmless. The evidence 
overwhelmingly established that Dean and Daniels 
robbed the First National Bank in South Holland, Illinois 
on August 2, 2005, and used firearms while doing so; that 
Daniels robbed the Bank of Lincolnwood on August 25, 
2005, and used a firearm while doing so; and that Dean 
robbed the First Bank in Chicago, Illinois, on December 
20, 2005. The district court, however, did not err in 
admitting as evidence the guns seized from Dean’s car 
when he was stopped in January of 2006, the various 
evidence seized from his car when he was arrested on 
October 7, 2005, or the cellular tower records and related 
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testimony. Finally, the district court did not err in refusing 
to question the disgruntled juror when there was no 
evidence that she faced outside pressure or was 
incompetent to serve as a juror. For these and the 
foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM. 
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FOR PUBLICATION 
 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
 

FOR THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT 
 

Filed December 1, 2015 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Nos. 13-2078 
& 13-2982 

 Plaintiff - Appellee,  
   
v.   

  ORDER 

TERRANCE DANIELS and 
DAVEED DEAN, 

 Defendants - Appellants. 

Before: WOOD, Chief Judge, POSNER, FLAUM, 
EASTERBROOK, KANNE, ROVNER, 
WILLIAMS, SYKES and HAMILTON, 
Circuit Judges. 

Appeals from the United States District Court for 
the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division.  
No. 09 CR 446 — Samuel Der-Yeghiayan, Judge. 

On October 14, 2015, defendants-appellants filed 
a petition for rehearing and for rehearing en banc, 
and on November 6, 2015, plaintiff-appellee filed an 
answer to the petition.  A vote of the active members 
of the court on whether to grant rehearing en banc 
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was requested and a majority of the judges have 
voted to deny the petition.1 

The petition is therefore DENIED. 

WILLIAMS, Circuit Judge, with whom POSNER 
and ROVNER, Circuit Judges join, dissenting from 
denial of rehearing en banc. “One of the most basic of 
the rights guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause 
[of the Sixth Amendment] is the accused’s right to be 
present in the courtroom at every stage of his trial.” 
Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 338 (1970). A 
defendant can lose that right by being disruptive—
but only if he is very disruptive. 

In Allen, the defendant badgered prospective 
jurors, tore up defense counsel’s files and threw them 
on the courtroom floor, explicitly said that his actions 
were designed to prevent trial, and (most 
outrageously) threatened to kill the judge. Id. at 339-
40. Finding that he lost his right to attend trial, the 
Court held that while “courts must indulge every 
reasonable presumption against the loss of 
constitutional rights,” a defendant can be excluded 
“if, after he has been warned by the judge that he 
will be removed if he continues his disruptive 
behavior, he nevertheless insists on conducting 
himself in a manner so disorderly, disruptive, and 
disrespectful of the court that his trial cannot be 
carried on with him in the courtroom.” Id. at 343. In 
my view, the panel opinion distorts this standard 
and inverts the presumption, eviscerating an 
important constitutional right. 

                                            
1  Judge Posner, Judge Rovner, and Judge Williams voted to 
grant the petition for rehearing en banc. 
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Daniels sat silently at 10 of the 13 pretrial 
hearings he attended; this is not mentioned by the 
panel. More importantly, he did not continue any 
disruptive behavior, much less behavior that was so 
disruptive that trial could not go on in his presence. 
Instead, he annoyed the judge by: filing numerous 
documents on his own, despite being represented by 
a lawyer; taking frivolous legal positions 
characteristic of so-called “sovereign citizens”; and 
giving long, unintelligible answers to questions that 
the judge asked him directly. He was disruptive one 
time, by yelling, “Are you denying me my right to 
speak?” at the end of a pretrial hearing. The district 
judge seized the opportunity and decided to exclude 
Daniels unless he affirmatively promised not to be 
disruptive at trial. 

So the worst thing Daniels did was yell at the end 
of a pretrial hearing. If that justifies his exclusion 
then Allen’s directive to “indulge every reasonable 
presumption against the loss of constitutional rights” 
is meaningless. See United States v. Ward, 598 F.3d 
1054, 1058 (8th Cir. 2010) (holding it is an abuse of 
discretion to exclude a defendant where his 
disruptive behavior consists of talking too loudly in 
the courtroom during trial); Tatum v. United States, 
703 A.2d 1218, 1223–24 (D.C. 1997) (vacating 
conviction where defendant was excluded based on 
laughing and nodding his head in response to 
witnesses’ answers and clarifying a witness’s answer 
for the court reporter); see also Jones v. Murphy, 694 
F.3d 225, 238 (2d Cir. 2012) (noting that the 
defendant “insisted on speaking personally with the 
court despite being represented by counsel and [] 
persisted in arguing with the court about its 
rulings—behavior that, while contentious and 
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improper, would not in itself warrant the extreme 
response of involuntary exclusion”). 

Aside from the single incident of yelling at a 
pretrial conference, the conduct mentioned by the 
panel is entirely irrelevant. By filing numerous 
documents, advancing silly legal theories, and giving 
unintelligible answers to the judge’s questions, 
Daniels no doubt annoyed the judge more than the 
typical criminal defendant. But none of that provides 
any basis for finding that trial could not be carried 
on in his presence.  Importantly, all of Daniels’s 
conduct took place in pre-trial hearings and much of 
it resulted from the judge’s own decision to ask 
questions of Daniels directly, even though he had a 
lawyer. Of particular note, the panel erred by relying 
on Daniels’s refusal to promise that he would not be 
disruptive.  Allen requires courts to indulge every 
reasonable presumption against the loss of 
constitutional rights. 397 U.S. at 343. The 
presumption is turned on its head if a judge, annoyed 
and sensing potential trouble, can bar a defendant 
from trial unless he affirmatively promises (in a 
manner that convinces the judge) that he will 
behave. 

Excluding a defendant from his own criminal trial 
is “[d]eplorable.” Allen, 397 U.S. at 347. Because the 
panel opinion makes it too easy to do so, we should 
have reheard this case en banc and corrected the 
error. I respectfully dissent from our failure to do so. 
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APPENDIX C 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, 
 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 
 

August 29, 2012 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Case No. 
09-CR-446-2 

 Plaintiff,  
   
v.   

  DOCKET  
  ENTRY TEXT 

TERRANCE DANIELS, 

 Defendant. 

Name of Assigned Judge:  Samuel Der-Yeghiayan 

On August 29, 2012, this matter was before the 
court on an in limine motion brought by the 
Government.  During the noticed motion hearing, 
while Government and defense counsels were 
addressing the court, Defendant Terrance Daniels 
(Daniels) raised his hand on several occasions and 
then held his hand in the air.  The court, noting that 
Daniels had raised his hand, asked Daniels’ 
appointed attorney whether he was representing 
Daniels.  Appointed counsel for Daniels indicated 
that he was representing Daniels and also advised 
the court the “he was not asking to address the court 
at this time.”  After the court adjourned the matter, 
Daniels became highly disruptive.  He repeatedly 
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yelled “are you denying my right to speak?”  The 
court indicated that it would have no further 
discussions on the matter.  Daniels persisted in his 
behavior and refused to leave the courtroom even 
after the court indicated that the matter had 
concluded, at which point the United States Deputy 
Marshals had to forcibly escort Daniels from the 
courtroom. 

The court notes that on August 2, 2012, the court 
held a hearing on the issue of whether appointed 
counsel should continue to represent Daniels.  At the 
hearing, the court attempted to swear-in Daniels to 
advise him of his rights, but Daniels refused to 
engage in colloquy with the court, and instead, on 
more than ten occasions, recited boilerplate language 
relating to his belief that the court lacked 
jurisdiction over him.  At that time, the court 
observed that appointed counsel for Daniels was an 
experienced trial attorney who had been zealously 
representing Daniels for several years without any 
objection by Daniels.  In addition, during assertions 
regarding the court’s authority, the court found that 
appointed counsel for Daniels should continue to 
represent Daniels.  The court warned Daniels that if 
it became apparent that he would be disruptive 
during the trial scheduled for September 10, 2012, 
the court would consider excluding Daniels from the 
courtroom during the trial and making 
arrangements for Daniels to observe the trial via live 
video.  Based on Daniels’ behavior at today’s noticed 
motion hearing, Daniels is again warned that further 
disruptions by Daniels during any of the proceedings 
related to this case, including the trial, may result in 
his exclusion from the courtroom during trial.  All 
dates remain unchanged. 



45a 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Docket No. 
09-CR-446 

 Government, Chicago, IL 
  Aug. 2, 2012 
v.  9:00 a.m. 

   

TERRANCE DANIELS, 
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For the Government: Mr. Gary S. Shapiro 
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   Office 
   By: Ms. Margaret Jean  
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    Ms. Heather McShain 
   219 South Dearborn Street 
   Suite 500 
   Chicago, Illinois 60604 

For Daniels:   Attorney at Law 
   By: Mr. Robert G. Clarke 
   123 West Madison Street 
   Chicago, Illinois 60603 
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        *   *   * 

THE COURT: Would you like me, government, 
to address the defendant on this issue? 

MS. SCHNEIDER:  I think in this case, that 
would be appropriate because he’s stating that this is 
not his attorney. 

THE COURT: Would you want me, counsel, to 
address your client on this issue? 

MR. CLARKE: Yes, Judge. 

THE COURT: Okay.  Courtroom deputy will 
swear in Mr. Gilmore (sic) so I give an opportunity 
to-- 

MR. CLARKE: Mr. Daniels 

THE COURT: -- Mr. Daniels so that I give an 
opportunity. 

COURTROOM DEPUTY:  Would you please 
raise your right hand? You do solemnly swear that 
all the statements you’re about to make in the case 
now before the Court will be the truth, the whole 
truth and nothing but the truth so help you God? 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally 
accept your offer upon proof of claim that I am here 
mainly as the paramount security interest holder for 
all property and collateral for Terry Daniels, 
registered and unregistered, and appearing merely 
for the purpose to obtain from the moving party the 
original accusatory debt instrument for my 
inspection and review upon these proceedings. 

THE COURT: Okay.  Once again, I’m going to 
ask the courtroom deputy to swear in the defendant 
Mr. Daniels so I could ask him questions so he could 
answer my questions relating to counsel’s 
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representation that you might not want counsel to 
represent you him.  Courtroom deputy swear in the 
defendant once again. 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally 
accept your offer -- 

THE COURT: One second.  It’s not your turn 
yet.  There’s turns here. 

COURTROOM DEPUTY:   Please raise your 
right hand. 

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that Mr. 
Daniels has stopped -- 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I conditionally 
accept your order -- 

THE COURT: One second sir.  One second.  
When I speak, you cannot speak.  I’ll give you a 
chance to speak after I speak.  Courtroom deputy 
asked Mr. Daniels to raise your -- his hand.  Now he 
has raised his hand.  Go ahead, Courtroom Deputy. 

COURTROOM DEPUTY:   You do solemnly 
swear that all the statements you are about to make 
in the case now before the Court will be the truth, 
the whole truth and nothing but the truth so help 
you God? 

THE COURT: Your turn, sir.  Go ahead.  You 
do? 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I conditionally 
accept -- 

THE COURT: You do?  Did you say I do? 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I conditionally -- 

THE COURT: I didn’t hear you. 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I said yes. 
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THE COURT; Okay. 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally 
accept your offer upon proof claim that counsel or co-
counsel is not needed here today.  I am very 
competent to handle my own proceedings.  And upon 
the moving party to present an original accusatory 
criminal instrument for my review and inspection 
and upon proof of claim that further proceedings 
pending my private administrative remedy would set 
off, settle and close this matter making any other 
further proceedings of this court moot. 

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that Mr. 
Daniels has recited the boilerplate language that 
some prison inmates have been reciting it from time 
to time in this court.  And, Mr. Clarke, I believe you 
represented one such defendant recently before this 
Court. 

MR. CLARKE: Yes, in a ten-day trial, Judge.  At 
least seven days. 

THE COURT: Okay, and what I’m going to do 
is, I’m going to consider the answer of Mr. Daniels 
non-responsive.  And having been sworn and 
answered in a certain fashion, now I’m going to ask 
you a question.  Are you asking this Court that your 
lawyer be dismissed from this case? 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I am conditionally 
accepting your offer upon proof of claim that counsel 
or co-counsel is not needed pending my private 
ongoing administrative remedy.  Me as the 
paramount security interest for all property and 
collateral for -- registered and unregistered for the 
Defendant Terry Daniels appearing as the 
accommodation party merely for the purpose --
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especially and not generally, merely for the purpose 
of obtaining the original accusatory criminal 
instrument for my review and inspection. 

And failure to produce this said original debt 
instrument constitutes a substantial -- a denial of 
substantial procedural due process of my -- due 
process of law and equal protection of the law 
constituting this Court to be a lack of jurisdiction. 

THE COURT: Okay, I gather from the recital of 
this boilerplate language about sovereignty and 
about third party and whatever other language that 
this defendant has, Mr. Clarke, that could be 
interpreted that he does not want to have you 
represent him.  And, therefore, I’m going to ask your 
client some questions relating to his ability to 
represent himself.  If that fine with you? 

MR. CLARKE: Yes, Judge.  Absolutely. 

THE COURT: Mr. Daniels, a criminal defendant 
has a right under the Sixth Amendment to counsel of 
choice.  Do you understand that, sir? 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I conditionally 
accept your offer upon proof of claim that I am not 
here as a defendant.  I am here as the 
accommodation appearing merely, especially and not 
generally, for the purpose of the moving party to 
present me an original accusatory debt instrument 
for my review and processing so that this matter can 
be resolved saving public resources value -- saving 
valuable public resources. 

THE COURT: Mr. Daniels, do you understand 
that the Constitutional right to an attorney does not 
give you the power to manipulate your choice of 
counsel to delay the orderly progress of this case? 



50a 

 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I conditionally 
accept your offer upon proof of claim that counsel or 
co-counsel is not needed in these proceedings 
pending my private administrative remedy which 
would more likely set off, settle and close this matter 
and making any other of the proceedings of this court 
lacks the jurisdiction to receive and this subject 
matter that would also -- strike that from the record. 

THE COURT: Nothing will be stricken from the 
record unless the Court orders the court reporter to 
strike.  That's not your job to strike anything off the 
record.   

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   Okay. I 
conditionally accept your offer -- 

THE COURT: Continue with your recital. 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I conditionally 
accept your offer upon proof of claim that failure to 
produce the original debt instrument constitutes a 
lack of self -- a lack of -- a denial of substantial due 
process of law and equal protection of the law 
constituting that the prosecution and the courts be 
converted and all liabilities and criminal proceedings 
and that further to deny the Defendant Terry 
Daniels the -- further to deny the Defendant Terry 
Daniels the right to have the original debt 
instrument constitutes this court's lack of self -- the 
lack of jurisdiction in this subject -- in this subject 
matter.  

       *   *   * 

THE COURT: Mr. Daniels, as a Judge, I must 
ensure that both sides get fairly treated in court 
during a trial and a criminal defendant has a 
Constitutional right to represent him or herself just 
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like a criminal defendant has a right to have 
effective assistance of counsel.  

While the choice is yours, before I'm able to grant 
your request to proceed pro se if that is your request, 
I must make sure that you are waiving your right to 
counsel both knowingly and voluntarily.  I'm 
required to make sure that you understand the 
benefits you receive from having an attorney to 
assist your defense, the dangers of going to trial 
without a lawyer and that in the vast majority of 
cases deciding to proceed pro se is a very foolish 
decision.  

Do you understand that, sir?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   I conditionally 
accept your offer upon proof of claim that I am not 
here as the paramount security interest holder for all 
private and collateral, registered and unregistered, 
for the Defendant Terry Daniels and appearing 
merely, especially not generally, for the purpose of 
obtaining the original said debt instrument and that 
trial or any other public benefit is not needed and 
that continual failure -- failure of not producing -- 
the moving party not producing the said debt 
instruments constitutes a denial of substantial due 
process of law along with equal protection of the law 
constituting that the courts and the prosecution have 
agreed that discharges of the charges for the 
Defendant Terry Daniels is at stand. 

THE COURT: Okay.  From the Court’s colloquy 
with the defendant, your client, Mr. Clarke, I don’t’ 
believe that on the basis of your client’s statements 
that there is a basis to have you withdraw from the 
case.  You will continue as the lawyer in this case.  It 
will be up to your client to cooperate with you or not.  
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And if he fails to cooperate with you, that will be his 
choice and the trial as scheduled will proceed. 

You have filed many motions in this court.  I’ve 
granted your request for appointment of experts on 
behalf of Mr. Daniels.  I have granted your other 
requests.  I’ve entertained motions to suppress from 
you.  You have been very faithfully representing this 
defendant as far as I can tell from the docket.  You 
appeared before me on many occasions as a 
competent lawyer and represented criminal 
defendants in this case. 

I have seen no basis for the Court to -- you're not 
even asking to withdraw; but based on the 
defendant's statements or innuendos, I attempted to 
entertain whether a withdrawal would be warranted 
and I don't find that it's warranted.  The trial will 
proceed and, as I stated, it's scheduled September.  

MR. CLARKE: September 10th.  

THE COURT: It was continued from previous 
occasions based on your motion and it's scheduled 
September 10th.  It will proceed.  

And I'll make the warning right now that your 
client may attend the trial because that's his right to 
attend the trial.  And if he demonstrates any 
indication that he will be disruptive during the trial, 
the Court will take appropriate actions and it could 
include -- as you know, Mr. Clarke, from prior 
experience -- barring him from the courtroom if he is 
disruptive and he can watch his trial on video.  That 
will be the Court's statement relating to your motion.  

Any documents filed by your client will not be 
accepted by the Court.  You may file documents only 
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through counsel.  Therefore, any documents filed by 
the client is stricken.  Thank you, all.  
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   By: Mr. Anthony Sassan 
   50 North Virginia Street 
   Crystal Lake, Illinois 
   60014 

For Daniels:   Attorney at Law 
   By: Mr. Robert G. Clarke 
   123 West Madison Street 
   Chicago, Illinois 60603 

 

       *   *   * 

THE COURT: Anything else we need to address 
today?  Are the parties prepared to -- I would note 
that Dean and government had submitted proposed 
voir dire questions.  I note that one of the defendants 
is raising his hand and I don’t entertain questions 
from defendants who are represented by counsel. 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I’m not represented 
by him. 

THE COURT: One second sir. 

Mr. Clarke, is this your client? 

MR. CLARKE: Yes, Judge. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. CLARKE: I am not asking to address the 
court at this time, Judge. 

THE COURT: Okay.  There will be no 
addressing the Court then by defendants unless their 
lawyer addresses the Court. 

Anything else? 

THE COURT: Thank you, all. There's nothing 
further. We're adjourned. Okay. 
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MS. SCHNEIDER:  Thank you, your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Marshals, please accompany. 

MR. SASSAN:  Thank you. 

DEFENDANT DANIELS: Are you denying me my 
right to speak? 

THE COURT: There will be no -- there will be no 
discussions. 

DEFENDANT DANIELS: Are you denying me my 
right to speak? 

THE COURT: There will be no discussions. 

(Which concluded the proceedings in the above-
entitled matter.) 
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   219 South Dearborn Street 
   Suite 500 
   Chicago, Illinois 60604 



58a 

For Dean:   Zukowski, Rogers, 
   Flood & McArdle 
   By: Mr. Anthony Sassan 
   50 North Virginia Street 
   Crystal Lake, Illinois 
   60014 

For Daniels:   Attorney at Law 
   By: Mr. Robert G. Clarke 
   123 West Madison Street 
   Chicago, Illinois 60603 

 

        *   *   * 

THE COURT: Since there were certain 
incidents that happened previously in this court 
relating to your client and I made a statement that, 
you know, if any defendant to that matter, if any 
party, including a special agent of the FBI acts 
disruptive, I will remove the person from the 
courtroom. And as I stated, your client has every 
right to be in the courtroom -- that's his right -- and I 
hope that he exercises that right and stays in the 
courtroom. And if he decides that he does not want to 
be civil in the courtroom and let the procedures take 
place, then I need to know that right now, Mr. 
Clarke. Has there been a decision made about that? 

MR. CLARKE: Judge, I -- I believe he has a right 
to be here as the Court stated and I would just leave 
it at that at this point.  

THE COURT: No. I'm not going to leave it at 
that.  

MR. CLARKE: As far as I am responding to you, 
Judge, that's all I can leave it at.  
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THE COURT: Well, maybe I should address 
that with your client, if you and your client would 
step up. Counsel, you and your client step up.  

MR. CLARKE: Yes, Judge.  

THE COURT: The courtroom deputy will swear 
in Mr. Daniels for the purposes of the Court advising 
him of his rights.  

COURTROOM DEPUTY:  Would you please 
raise your right hand?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
upon proof of claim that I am not here to run for oath 
-- office nor to testify. Upon proof of claim, I ask this 
Court that further procedures, privileges, public -- 
public -- public -- thank you. I conditionally accept 
upon proof of claim that I am the accommodation 
party. I am the paramount security interest holder 
for all collateral and property, registered and 
unregistered, for defendant Terry Daniels and that 
my purpose is merely here to assist the judge in 
resolving this matter. And if the accommodation 
party can have the original accusatory criminal 
instrument for my review of inspection, this process 
can be eliminated and saving valuable public 
resources making this offer moot of trial.  

THE COURT: Okay. I attempted, for the record, 
to have the defendant sworn so I could advise him 
his rights but I've heard some statement which 
appears to be, once again, boilerplate statement. 

But as a judge, what I'm going to do is I will 
instruct you, Mr. Daniels, that your trial will take 
place starting Monday; and during the trial, you'll 
have to act in a civil manner. And if any time during 
the trial you decide to be disruptive, which I hope 
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you don't, then I will have no alternative but to 
consider that you have surrendered your right to be 
in the courtroom during your trial and I will make 
arrangements for you to be taken to another room or 
facility where you will be observing the trial on a 
video as opposed to have the right to be in the 
courtroom during the trial. So you'll have to decide 
whether you will be not disruptive -- and I hope you 
don't be disruptive -- and listen to your trial, observe 
the witnesses and be present.  

You have to -- anything to say about that? 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   Yes. I conditionally 
accept your offer that trial is not needed. Pending my 
ongoing private administrative remedy will make 
any proceedings along with this trial moot and I do 
not participate in any of the public benefits which 
this court have to offer.  

THE COURT: Okay. You're saying that you 
don't want any benefits this court has to offer. I'm 
not offering you benefits. I'm advising you that you 
have a Constitutional right to be present while 
there's a trial against you so you could observe the 
witnesses and, you know, defend yourself during the 
trial but you must do so in a civil manner, not a 
disruptive manner and are you willing to do so?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
your offer upon proof of claim that my position as the 
accommodation party appearing specially, not 
generally, merely for the purpose of obtaining the 
original accusatory criminal instrument that would -- 
I will set off, settle and close this matter making any 
of the proceedings of trial moot.  
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THE COURT: Now you're a smart man and I 
don't understand really what you're saying because 
you're repeating the same words every time which, to 
me, I've heard it before from other defendants. It 
appears to be this boilerplate language. I'm not 
telling you you don't have the right to tell me what 
you like to but what are you trying to tell me? Are 
you trying to tell me that I don't have jurisdiction 
over your case? 

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
your offer upon proof of claim, yes, that pending to 
my ongoing private administrative remedy being 
that there's not been presented any original 
accusatory instrument for my review and inspection 
that is -- it shows that this court lacks jurisdiction in 
my proceedings and that pending the refuse of my 
tender of payment to the prosecution which is -- sits 
at the CFO of the courts, this charge and all 
liabilities and charges against the defendant makes 
any of these proceedings moot.  

THE COURT: So do you believe that I don't 
have authority over this case?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
your offer upon proof of claim that, yes, pending my 
ongoing private administrative remedy being that I 
am the secured party creditor holder in due course 
and I hold title in these proceedings that you lack the 
jurisdiction to proceed and it is a court of trespass 
upon my proceedings.  

THE COURT: Okay. Let me ask you this: Do 
you promise to sit in court without being disruptive?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
your offer upon proof of claim that -- can you ask the 
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prosecution why my tender of payment is being 
refused?  

THE COURT: Okay. That's a different question 
posed now. I don't know about tender of payments 
being refused but we're going to hold a trial and if 
you -- because of your behavior before in court which 
has been disruptive and you don't follow, you know, 
directives of the Marshals and they had to forcefully 
kind of remove you from court last time, I need to 
know that up front because once I start a trial and 
you become disruptive, you know, that's going to be a 
problem. I just want to make sure that you agree to 
be not disruptive. And if you could make that 
promise to me, then I will allow you to be present in 
the courtroom.  

If you stand here and give me this boilerplate 
recitation without telling me that you will not be 
disruptive, then I will consider that as surrendering 
your right to be in the courtroom.  

You understand what I'm saying?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
your offer upon proof of claim that pending my 
ongoing private administrative remedy that public 
benefit is not needed and that as the secured party 
creditor holder in due course of these proceedings, 
that trespassing on my case makes your offer moot.  

THE COURT: Okay. Since my offer is moot, I'm 
not going to withdraw my offer just because you 
believe it's moot but because of your past behavior 
and your non-responsiveness to my questions so that 
we could ascertain if you can be present in the 
courtroom and not be disruptive -- we have dedicated 
resources here, government, other counsels, your 
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counsel and personnel -- I'm going to have Mr. 
Daniels watch the trial on a video wherever the U.S. 
Marshals can make arrangements, whether it's at 
MCC or at other facility.  
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For Dean:   Zukowski, Rogers,  
   Flood & McArdle 
   By: Mr. Anthony Sassan 
   50 North Virginia Street 
   Crystal Lake, Illinois 
   60014 

For Daniels:   Attorney at Law 
   By: Mr. Robert G. Clarke 
   123 West Madison Street 
   Chicago, Illinois 60603 

Also Present:  Mr. Dahveed Dean 
   FBI Special Agent Daniel 
               McCune 

 

        *   *   * 

THE COURT: Good morning. As counsels know, 
we have scheduled this trial to commence this 
morning at 9:00. It's a few minutes before 9:00.  

And last week at pretrial conference, we met, and 
at that time, as to Mr. Daniels, I indicated that based 
on his behavior and failure to promise -- destructive 
behavior and failure to promise to comply with the 
civility in this courtroom so that everybody could get 
a fair trial, I would bar him from being present in the 
courtroom, that he has surrendered his rights.  

Now, I ordered him to be present in the courtroom 
this morning. And I have consistently followed 
United States v. Benabe ruling, 654 F.3d 753. And 
pursuant to that decision, I ordered him to be 
present this morning.  
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Defendant has filed or sent to the Court more than 
half a dozen -- defendant Daniels -- pro se notices 
relating to his sovereignty.  

On August 2nd hearing, he refused to participate, 
and he recited his boilerplate recitations. He refuses 
to be sworn. 

On August 29th hearing, he interrupted the Court 
to indicate that appointed counsel did not represent 
him, repeating, yelling to his right to speak to the 
Court, and forcibly was removed from the courtroom.  

On September 5th pretrial conference, once again, 
he refused to be sworn in or assure the Court that he 
would not disrupt the trial.  

Arguments raised by defendant are not made in 
good faith. 7th Circuit has repeatedly rejected them, 
and they've been considered frivolous.  

Defendant has refused to recognize this Court's 
finding that the Court has jurisdiction over him and 
doesn't stand to continue to be disruptive and 
nonresponsive in order to delay the trial.  

The Court believes that his past behavior is an 
intent to disrupt the proceedings and to undermine 
the ability of codefendant Mr. Dean and the 
government to have a fair trial.  

Codefendant Mr. Dean already raised an in limine 
motion relating to the conduct of codefendant 
Daniels -- that might cause Mr. Dean not to have a 
fair trial -- and the Court ruled on that motion, 
indicating that if such was the case, defendant 
Daniels will be barred from being in the courtroom.  

Government has the right also to have a fair trial.  
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This trial will last couple weeks, and any 
outbursts by defendant will taint the jury and might 
require a new trial. And a defendant by his conduct 
surrenders his right -- his constitutional right under 
the 6th Amendment.  

But pursuant to United States v. Benabe, I'm going 
to give one more opportunity this morning, or 
another opportunity this morning, and defendant 
will be sworn by the courtroom deputy. And I'm 
going to inquire whether he promises to behave 
during the trial.  

Courtroom deputy will swear in the defendant.  

THE CLERK: Please raise your right hand.  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   Good morning, Judge.  

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that 
defendant, once again, has refused to raise his hand 
and is addressing the Court. Defendant will not be 
allowed to address the Court without being sworn.  

And courtroom deputy, once again, will swear in 
the defendant.  

THE CLERK: Please raise your right hand.  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
upon proof of claim --  

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that 
defendant has not raised his hand and is speaking 
once again.  

Go ahead, sir.  

U.S. MARSHAL: Are you going to raise your hand?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:   No.  

THE COURT: He's not raising his hand.  
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One second. One second.  

Go ahead. Speak.  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
these proceedings today upon proof of claim that I'm 
not here as the paramount security interest holder 
for all property and collateral, registered and 
unregistered, belonging to Terry Daniels, and that 
the accommodation party spend merely -- specially 
not generally, merely for the purpose of the moving 
party or the prosecution to present the original 
accusatory instrument for that we can waste -- save 
valuable public resources and resolve this matter.  

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that 
defendant is reading from his script.  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
upon proof of claim that as a secure party creditor 
and a holder in due course have I not tendered 
payment with the CFO and the clerk of this Court to 
discharge all debts and liabilities and obligation of 
the defendant according to the commercial code of 
this state, UCC 3-603.  

And upon proof of claim that with no outstanding 
charges, the defendant, Terry Daniels, I move the 
Court to enforce the laws of the state to discharge 
the collateral -- namely, myself -- and set at liberty 
now.  

Are you refusing my tender of payment, Judge?  

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that 
defendant, instead of following the Court's 
instructions, once again has recited his boilerplate 
language from reading from a document and is 
questioning the Court now.  
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What I'm going to do is advise you, sir, that you 
have the constitutional right to be in the courtroom 
during the trial, to be present in the courtroom. And 
that's your right.  

But with your conduct, you surrender your right, 
meaning not be able to be present in the courtroom. 
It's to your advantage to be present in the courtroom 
so you could follow the trial, you could chat with your 
lawyer, consult with your lawyer during the trial, 
and defend yourself with your lawyer.  

But you cannot just decide to not follow the rules 
of this Court. And you have to promise to the Court 
that you will obey the Court's rules and not disrupt 
this Court's proceedings no matter what you believe 
your sovereign status, quote/unquote, is.  

What I'm going to ask you one more time: Are you 
able and do you promise to not disrupt this trial?  

DEFENDANT DANIELS:  I conditionally accept 
your offer upon proof of claim --  

THE COURT: Let the record reflect that 
defendant is going to continue to recite the same 
boilerplate language. I'm going to order that at this 
time defendant be barred from being present during 
the trial. He will be taken back to the MCC. I have 
asked the MCC -- one second. I've asked the MCC to 
make arrangements for a video.  


